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Celgene At A Glance

Celgene is a biopharmaceutical company focused on the discovery, 

development and commercialization of small-molecule drugs for the 

treatment of cancer and immunological diseases. We have built a fully

integrated target-to-drug platform that is generating a large and diverse

pipeline of drug candidates, each directed toward regulating key cellular 

pathways that control the activation of disease-causing

genes. These new classes of orally available drugs are

designed to inhibit tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF�)

and angiogenesis along with other important disease-

associated cytokines and growth factors. TNF� is a

cytokine (hormone-like protein) whose overproduction

has been linked to the onset and progression of 

many inflammatory and immunological diseases.

Angiogenesis is the formation of new blood vessels;

anti-angiogenic drugs inhibit the growth of undesirable

blood vessels that promote tumor growth and 

inflammation. We have over twenty drug development and drug discovery

programs underway with the goal of accelerating the application of

genomics and proteomics to the discovery of a new generation of 

gene regulating drugs.

Our lead product, THALOMID® (thalidomide), was approved for sale in

the United States by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration in July 1998.

THALOMID is approved for the treatment of erythema nodosum leprosum

(ENL), an inflammatory condition of leprosy. Sales of THALOMID in 2000

totaled $62 million. THALOMID is being evaluated in the clinic for the 

treatment of solid tumor and blood cancers and for the treatment of 

serious inflammatory diseases. 

Celgene is a leading developer of 

drugs in the ‘post genomic’ era.

We are applying recent advances in

human genomics and proteomics to

develop new classes of small-molecule

drugs that target the fundamental

molecular and genetic mechanisms 

of cancer and immunological disease.
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Product Pipeline

Our extensive pharmaceutical pipeline is highlighted by 
several new classes of small-molecule drugs. Two of these
classes are novel and proprietary oral agents called IMiDs™

(Immunomodulatory Drugs) and SelCIDs™ (Selective Cytokine
Inhibitory Drugs). Both classes are being developed for the 
treatment of cancer, chronic inflammatory diseases (including
Crohn’s disease and rheumatoid arthritis) and other diseases 
of the immune system.  

Two other classes under development are our SERMs
(Selective Estrogen Receptor Modulators) and JNK (cJun 
N-terminal kinase) inhibitors. These proprietary drug candidates
regulate specific sets of cytokine genes associated with 
disease. To support these and other drug discovery programs, 
we have built a strong intellectual property position in kinases,
ligases and transcription factors. These enzymes play a 
pivotal role in regulating the activity of disease-associated 
genes and their protein products. Targeting kinases and 

ligases provides Celgene with important and promising new
strategies for applying advances in human genomics and 
proteomics to the discovery of innovative new drugs. Our 
scientific leadership in the field of cytokine and growth factor
gene regulation positions Celgene at the center of the post-
genomics revolution. 

Our chiral chemistry program has developed d-methyl-
phenidate (d-MPH), a chirally pure version of Ritalin®, for the
treatment of attention deficit disorder and attention deficit 
hyperactivity disorder (ADD/ADHD). In April 2000, we granted
Novartis Pharma AG an exclusive worldwide license (except 
in Canada where we previously licensed the rights to Biovail
Corporation International) for the development and marketing 
of d-MPH in return for substantial milestone payments and 
royalties on d-MPH and all products in the Ritalin family of 
drugs. Celgene retains the rights to develop and commercialize
d-MPH for cancer-associated disorders. 

THALOMID® (thalidomide)
ENL

Cancer
Multiple Myeloma
Renal
Colorectal
MDS
Melanoma
Prostate

Immunology
RAS
Crohn's Disease
Ulcerative Colitis
Sarcoidosis
Scleroderma

IMiDsTM

CDC 501 Cancer
CDC 394 Cancer
Others

SelCIDsTM

CDC 801 Crohn's Disease
CDC 998
Others

SERMs
SERM� Cancer
SERM� Osteoporosis
SERM� Cancer
SERM� Other

Kinases
JNK Cancer, Inflammation
NF-kB Cancer, Inflammation
p38 Cancer, Inflammation
Others Cancer, Inflammation

Ligases
Cancer

ADD/ADHD
d-MPH

FDA Filing/
Preclinical Phase I Phase II Phase III Approval
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The year 2000 was a transforming one for Celgene, during

which we became one of the select few biopharmaceutical

companies to successfully make the transition from drug

development to profitability. As a result 

of important accomplishments in all areas of

our business — scientific, commercial and

financial — we are now in a significantly

stronger position to advance our deep 

pharmaceutical pipeline. These were some 

of the notable achievements:

• In February 2000, we raised approximately 

$278 million in a successful public 

equity offering.

• Sales of our lead product, THALOMID®

(thalidomide), reached $62 million 

in 2000, an increase of more than 

150 percent from 1999. 

• Our IMiD™ and SelCID™ programs 

advanced to various phases of 

clinical development.

• We merged with Signal Pharmaceuticals, 

a move that placed us at the forefront of the 

post-genomics drug discovery revolution.

• We expanded our commercial infrastructure to support 

a growing product portfolio.

In sum, we put into place strategic elements to 

establish Celgene as one of the leading integrated 

biopharmaceutical companies with franchises in oncology

and immunological diseases.

Celgene began the year with a successful follow-on

public offering that significantly strengthened the

Company’s balance sheet. The impressive growth in 

THALOMID revenues also contributed to the Company’s

increasing financial strength. Moreover, Celgene reached 

a major milestone by achieving profitability in the fourth

quarter of the year, a goal very few biopharmaceutical 

companies have reached. Our stronger financial

profile enabled us to accelerate the clinical

development of THALOMID; expand the 

potential disease indications for our IMiDs

and SelCIDs; and provide the resources 

to realize the potential of the discovery 

technologies and drug candidates within 

our Signal Research Division. 

Numerous independent investigators

presented data on the potential use of

THALOMID at the national oncology

meetings held in 2000. These included

the American Society of Clinical

Oncology annual meeting, the New York

Chemotherapy Foundation Symposium

and the annual meeting of the American

Society of Hematology. Clinical trial

results on the use of THALOMID for 

the treatment of such diseases as multiple myeloma,

myelodysplastic syndromes, colorectal cancer and prostate

cancer were reported. Clinicians from major cancer

research centers (including M.D. Anderson Cancer Center,

the Mayo Clinic and the Arkansas Cancer Research Center)

presented data on the use of THALOMID in combination

with chemotherapeutic agents as a treatment for 

early-stage multiple myeloma. They also reported on 

the potential of lower-dose THALOMID therapy over 

an extended course of treatment. A highlight of the

Chemotherapy Foundation Symposium was a presentation

by Dr. Bart Barlogie, Director of the Arkansas Cancer

“The year 2000 was a 

transforming one for Celgene,

during which we became 

one of the select few 

biopharmaceutical companies

to successfully make the 

transition from drug 

development to 

profitability.”

John W. Jackson

To Our Shareholders:
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Research Center, evaluating single-agent THALOMID 

therapy over a two-year period. Other results reported in

2000 for THALOMID® dosing and therapy are very positive

developments for the clinical development of the product. 

Development of the IMiDs™ and SelCIDs™ was 

accelerated last year with the signing of two Cooperative

Research and Development Agreements with the National

Cancer Institute (NCI). Each agreement 

provides for a five-year program that will 

perform preclinical and clinical evaluations 

of the Company’s SelCID and IMiD drug 

candidates. Importantly, if the preclinical

results are encouraging, the NCI will 

conduct Phase I and Phase II clinical trials 

of the most promising SelCID and IMiD 

compounds in multiple cancers. Our 

collaboration with the world’s leading 

cancer research center is an important

milestone in the development of our SelCID

and IMiD programs that will help expand our 

knowledge of their potential usefulness. 

The seminal transforming event of 2000

was the addition of Signal Pharmaceuticals

to our company. The Signal Research Division of Celgene,

based in San Diego, is a leader in the discovery of drugs

designed to regulate genes and control disease at the

genomic level. Signal has an impressive intellectual 

property portfolio, a world-class scientific team and 

a robust program focusing on kinases, ligases and 

transcription factors. These are important new classes 

of gene regulating proteins and represent emerging 

drug target areas in medicine. Signal’s emphasis on 

small molecule drugs to treat cancer and immunological

diseases is highly synergistic with our own approach.

Signal’s scientific team has brought Celgene to the 

forefront of cellular, molecular and genomic research and

has helped to broaden both our discovery platform and 

our product pipeline. 

Last April, we announced a ground-breaking alliance

with Novartis Pharma AG granting that

company an exclusive worldwide license

(except in Canada) to develop and market

d-methylphenidate (d-MPH), our chirally

pure version of Ritalin®. In our licensing

agreement with Novartis, we set a new

standard in pharmaceutical partnerships.

Not only are we to receive significant 

milestone payments, but also, once 

d-MPH is launched, we are to receive 

royalties on this drug and on Novartis’s

entire Ritalin® product line. The alliance

with Novartis is valuable because it 

places even more substantial development

and marketing resources behind the 

commercialization of d-MPH and further

diversifies our revenue base. 

Our transforming accomplishments in 2000 were 

the result of a focused strategy to make Celgene a 

major integrated biopharmaceutical company. The 

contributions of our employees were crucial during 

this extraordinary year, and we would like to thank 

them for their hard work and loyalty. We would also 

like to thank you, our shareholders and friends, for your 

continued support and interest.

“The seminal 

transforming event of 

2000 was the 

addition of 

Signal Pharmaceuticals 

to our company.”

Sol J. Barer, Ph.D.

John W. Jackson
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Sol J. Barer, Ph.D.
President and Chief Operating Officer
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The Science of Celgene

The decoding of the human genome in 2000 and the mapping of key cellular

gene regulation pathways were historic events that have provided

researchers with the tools needed to decipher and subsequently treat 

the fundamental causes of disease.

Scientists are determining how 

networks of proteins within cells 

transmit biological signals to regulate 

gene expression and protein production. 

This enables us to identify the defects 

in gene regulation that cause or 

predispose humans to most diseases. 

Celgene’s cutting-edge cell signaling 

technology is being applied to affect the

basic underlying mechanisms of disease. Specifically, Celgene is 

developing drugs designed to control the activation of a wide range of 

cytokine and growth factor genes, including TNF� and factors that induce

angiogenesis. Excessive production of TNF� has been implicated in a large

number of acute and chronic inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid

arthritis and inflammatory bowel disease. Angiogenesis — the formation of

new blood vessels — is essential to the growth and spread of cancer cells.

We believe that novel drugs designed to inhibit TNF� and angiogenesis could

have broad anti-inflammatory and anti-cancer applications. 

Our integrated target-to-drug platform has 

generated a deep pipeline of novel drug 

candidates. This discovery platform includes:

(i) advanced cellular, molecular and genomic

technologies used to discover clinically important

drug targets, (ii) automated drug discovery and

bioinformatics systems for identifying drug 

leads active against specific gene regulating 

drug targets, and (iii) computational and 

medicinal chemistry capabilities used to 

generate potent and selective drug 

candidates for clinical development.

Celgene’s Gene Regulating Target
and Drug Discovery EngineCelgene's Gene Regulating

Target and Drug Discovery Engine
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Celgene scientists are collaborating with

researchers at over twenty-five leading 

academic institutions worldwide to map 

many of the important cellular pathways that

regulate cytokine and growth factor genes.

Together, these pathways contain a large array 

of drug targets for regulating such important

genes as TNF, interleukins, interferons, cell 

adhesion molecules and matrix proteins.

Celgene is developing small molecule drugs

designed to control the activation of these 

and other disease-causing genes.

Malfunctions in gene regulation are a 

fundamental cause of human disease. Genes are

controlled by pathways of proteins inside cells

that relay biological signals from a cell’s surface

receptors to its nucleus where genes are switched

on and off. These pathways consist of several 

distinct classes of gene regulating proteins, or

‘gene switches’, which include kinases, ligases and

transcription factors that control the level and

duration of gene expression and protein 

production.

Targeting Key Cytokine and 
Growth Factor Pathways

GENES
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The IMiDs™

The IMiDs are novel, small molecule analogs of thalidomide that are

designed to be more potent and potentially have a better safety profile. 

To date, our IMiDs have demonstrated significantly greater immunological

activity in in vitro studies, and have not shown teratogenic effects or 

sedation in models where thalidomide causes such side effects.

Furthermore, our lead IMiD was well tolerated and non-sedating in

an initial human clinical study conducted early in 2000. Subsequently,

Celgene significantly advanced the IMiD clinical program with the start

of two Phase I/II clinical studies in multiple myeloma at the Dana-

Farber Cancer Institute and the Arkansas Cancer Research Center.

The IMiDs were extensively covered in clinical presentations 

and publications during 2000. At the annual meeting of the

American Society of Hematology in December 2000, five 

abstracts were presented indicating that the IMiDs may have 

activity against multiple myeloma. The abstracts showed 

that IMiDs have direct growth-inhibiting and potential 

anti-cancer effects in multiple myeloma models. In addition, a paper 

co-authored by Celgene scientists and Dr. Ken Anderson of the 

Dana-Farber Cancer Institute was published in the November 1, 2000, 

issue of BLOOD that reported on a mechanism of action of the IMiDs. 

The paper indicated that the IMiDs inhibit multiple myeloma cell growth 

and induce cell death at the molecular level. 
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THALOMID IMiDs

IL-2

TNF
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CANCER INFLAMMATION

We are using our THALOMID and the IMiDs 

to decipher the biological pathways that control

cancer and immunological diseases. These 

compounds are part of a broad genomics and 

proteomics initiative designed to map important

disease pathways, identify new drug targets 

for drug discovery and further expand our 

drug portfolio.

Using THALOMID® (thalidomide) 
and IMiDs to Map Disease Pathways
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Bringing New Drug Candidates
to the Clinic

We have scaled up our drug discovery platform 

to produce a steady flow of new drug candidates

for clinical development, following our IMiD™

and SelCID™ programs now in clinical testing.

Several additional discovery programs, led by 

our SERMs for cancer and osteoporosis and 

our JNK and NF-kB inhibitors for inflammation

and cancer, are expected to be on IND-track 

in the coming year.
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The SelCIDs™

The SelCIDs are a group of novel, orally available small molecules that have

been shown in in vitro models to be potent modulators of TNF� and also anti-

angiogenic. These compounds selectively inhibit type-4 phosphodiesterase 

(PDE 4) enzymes, a key class of cell-signaling enzymes linked 

to the overproduction of TNF�. PDE 4 is an important 

molecular drug target because selective PDE 4 inhibitors

have been shown to suppress the activation of inflammatory

cells in in vitro models and reduce broncho-constriction.

Moreover, PDE 4 inhibitors may modify airway obstruction,

inflammation and hyperreactivity. Therefore, these 

compounds may be important new therapies for asthma 

and other respiratory diseases such as chronic obstructive

pulmonary disorder. Notably, in Phase I and II human 

clinical studies, the SelCIDs did not cause the nausea 

and vomiting historically associated with existing PDE 4

inhibitor programs. 

During 2000, we expanded the Phase II trial of our lead 

SelCID drug, CDC 801, in Crohn’s disease. The results of this 

study are expected in 2001. Also during 2000, we initiated 

a Phase I clinical trial of a second-generation compound, CDC 998. 

This drug is significantly more potent than CDC 801 in in vitro models, 

and Phase I results are expected in the first half of 2001.

Drugs targeting TNF� are revolutionizing the

treatment of immunological diseases and,

potentially, cancer. The first generation of these

drugs are proteins, which must be administered

by intravenous injection. Celgene has underway

multiple research programs focused on developing

the next generation of small molecule, orally

administered TNF� inhibitors designed to control

the abnormal proliferation of cell death 

associated with inflammation and cancer.

TNF� Inhibitors
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Advancing Our Product Pipeline -
From Target to Drug

Celgene has developed a rigorous, multi-

disciplinary approach to optimizing the potency,

selectivity and other key pharmaceutical 

properties of our drug candidates. We have 

integrated medicinal chemistry and computer-

ized, structure-based drug design with cellular

and in vivo models of disease with the goal of

expediting the drug development process.

This platform has been extremely productive,

having generated five new classes of drug 

candidates to date.

Innovating Life
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The SERMs and JNK Inhibitors

Two additional classes of drug candidates from our Signal Research 

Division also have potential applications in cancer and 

immunological diseases. The SERMs (Selective Estrogen 

Receptor Modulators) are the more advanced of the 

two groups. SERM�s are a new generation of drugs designed 

to mimic the protective effects of estrogen in bone and in the 

cardiovascular and central nervous systems, while blocking 

some of estrogen’s adverse effects (such as an increased 

risk of breast and uterine cancer). Based on established 

drugs in this class, we believe our SERM�s may have 

significant potential for preventing and treating breast, 

uterine, endometrial, prostate and other cancers whose growth 

is dependent on estrogen. During 2001, we intend to file an 

Investigational New Drug (IND) application for our lead SERM�

drug candidate as an anti-cancer agent. In January 2001, Celgene 

signed an agreement with Novartis Pharma AG to jointly develop 

and commercialize additional SERM�s focused on the treatment 

and prevention of osteoporosis and cardiovascular disease. 

This substantial agreement begins to validate the drug discovery 

platform and the product pipeline developed by Signal, and also 

advances our strategy of diversifying our revenue base. 

Targeting Key Stages of Cancer & Inflammation

• Cyclins

• EGF

• IL-6

• Bcl-2

• SERMα

• SERMβ

• Kinase Inhibitor

• VEGF

• Ras Oncogene

• FGP-BP

• IL-2

• PKC Inhibitor

• Lck Inhibitor

• Zap70 Inhibitor

• CAMs

• MMPs

• IL-1 / IL-8

• VEGF

• AP-1/JNK Inhibitor

• p38/MKK Inhibitor

• NF-κB/IKK Inhibitor

• IAP1/2

• TNF

• COX2

• Caspases

• SelCIDs

• IMiDs

• Ligase Inhibitor

Key Disease Genes

Celgene Drug Leads & Drug Candidates

Cellular
Insult & Initiation

Cellular
Proliferation

Cellular Migration
& Angiogenesis

Targeting Key Stages of Cancer & Inflammation

Cell Survival
& Cell Death

Cancer and inflammatory diseases are 

characterized by dysregulation of the biological

pathways that control genes. Both classes of 

disease progress through common stages,

characterized by abnormal cellular proliferation,

migration, angiogenesis and cell survival or

death. Cytokines and growth factors play pivotal

roles in these pathogenic events. Celgene is

pursuing an integrated approach to the 

discovery of small-molecule drugs which 

selectively regulate the activation of cytokine

and growth factor genes.

Synergies Between Celgene’s
Oncology and Inflammatory
Disease Programs
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A second class of compounds developed and pioneered

by the Signal Research Division are the JNK (cJun N-terminal kinase)

inhibitors. JNK inhibitors are part of an important emerging area of 

medical research, with Celgene having a dominant intellectual property 

position. There are multiple JNK enzyme targets, providing us with 

several new areas for drug discovery. The JNK1 and

JNK2 targets control the expression of multiple

cytokine and growth factor genes (including TNF�,

IL-2 and VEGF) that are involved in immunological 

diseases and cancer. The JNK3 target is found 

predominantly in the brain and has been associated

with neuronal cell death arising from stroke, head

trauma and neurodegenerative disorders. We have

identified and are developing several promising

series of JNK inhibitors that have shown efficacy in

cellular and in vivo models of arthritis, stroke and

cancer. Results from a study evaluating Celgene’s

novel class of small molecule JNK inhibitors in a

model of arthritis were presented at the American

College of Rheumatology conference in November

2000. The study, a joint effort of our Signal Research 

Division and Dr. Gary Firestein of the University of California, 

San Diego School of Medicine, demonstrated significant 

disease-modifying activity by the JNK inhibitors. We expect 

to begin a Phase I clinical trial for our first JNK inhibitor in 

the next year.

World-Class Research is in 
Our DNA

Our scientific team has brought Celgene 

to the forefront of deciphering the molecular

causes of disease at the level of gene function.

This same team is devising pharmacological

strategies for treating diseases with new classes

of small molecule, gene regulating drugs.

Innovating Life
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THALOMID® (thalidomide) - Commercial
Development and Clinical Practice

Sales of THALOMID have increased significantly each 

year since its launch in September 1998. Over this period, 

we have expanded our organization to support the use 

of our lead product through the S.T.E.P.S.™ program. 

We currently have seventy field territories staffed with 

professionals with strong pharmaceutical backgrounds. 

Ten Clinical Science Specialists, whose primary function 

is to strengthen our relationships with the various 

clinicians around the country, further support the 

clinical development of THALOMID. 

Based on data captured in our S.T.E.P.S. program, 

more than half of the oncology-related THALOMID 

prescriptions written in 2000 were for patients being 

treated for hematological cancers. Approximately 

46 percent of the oncology THALOMID prescriptions 

were for the treatment of multiple myeloma, a malignant 

cancer of bone marrow cells that affects 40,000 – 50,000 people 

in the United States. Another 7 percent of oncology THALOMID 

prescriptions were for the treatment of renal cell cancer, and 

3 percent were for malignant melanoma.

The strong growth in the use of THALOMID

is a testament to the increasing clinical data 

on this product. Data provided by the S.T.E.P.S.

program indicates that approximately 92 percent 

of all prescriptions have been written for 

numerous oncology indications.

THALOMID Oncology Use: 2000

THALOMID Revenues

46%

10%

3%
2%

3%

4%

4%

5%

5%

7%

11%

Multiple Myeloma - 46%

Other Hematologic - 10%

Renal - 7%

Brain - 5%

Lung - 5%

Sarcoma - 4%

Colon - 4%

Prostate - 3%

Melanoma - 3%

Breast - 2%

Other - 11%

Source: Celgene S.T.E.P.S. Data

Dollars in Millions

$62.0

$24.1

$3.2

1998 1999 2000
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S.T.E.P.S.™ Granted 
Method of Business Patent

In April 2000, we were granted a method of 

business patent on the S.T.E.P.S. system.

The patent covers controlled distribution 

systems of teratogens that register pharmacists,

patients and physicians and  it includes systems

that track compliance and authorize each 

prescription. Most importantly, S.T.E.P.S. is now 

a blueprint for pharmaceutical products that

offer life-saving benefits but have potentially

serious side effects and is now a protected part 

of our THALOMID label.

Innovating Life
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THALOMID® (thalidomide) - Clinical

Presentations and Development 

Data on THALOMID was well represented at several national

medical meetings last year, including those of the New York

Chemotherapy Foundation and the American Society of

Hematology. Presentations at the Chemotherapy Foundation

Symposium in November 2000 focused on the potential

activity of THALOMID as both a monotherapy and a combi-

nation therapy for a variety of hematological and solid tumor 

cancers. Dr. Rangaswamy Govindarajan of the University 

of Arkansas for Medical Sciences presented an interim

analysis of a pilot trial evaluating the use of THALOMID 

with irinotecan, a widely prescribed chemotherapeutic

agent, for the treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer. 

Of the eight evaluable patients in the study, three showed 

a complete response. Dr. Govindarajan reported that the 

synergy between THALOMID and irinotecan might improve

the tolerability and effectiveness of irinotecan. Based on 

the data from this pilot trial, we plan to initiate a clinical 

trial to evaluate the potential of THALOMID as a 

combination therapy for colorectal cancer. 

At the annual meeting of the American Society of

Hematology in December 2000, over 50 abstracts dealt 

with THALOMID as a potentially useful treatment for multiple

myeloma, myelodysplastic syndromes and acute myeloid

leukemia. Presentations from researchers at the Arkansas

Cancer Research Center, the Mayo Clinic, M.D. Anderson

Cancer Center and the Dana-Farber Cancer Institute

focused on the potential use of THALOMID as both a single

agent and a combination therapy for hematological cancers.

In addition, the November 1, 2000, issue of BLOOD, the peer-

reviewed medical journal published by the American Society

of Hematology, contained a paper reporting the results of

laboratory studies evaluating the effect of THALOMID on

multiple myeloma cells. The results showed that THALOMID

acts directly on multiple myeloma cell lines, including those

that are resistant to conventional therapies. The paper 

was the result of a joint research effort between Celgene

and the Dana-Farber Cancer Institute. Based upon 

clinical data for multiple myeloma, in 2001 we intend 

to submit to the FDA, for review, a supplemental New Drug

Application for THALOMID in the treatment of this disease. 

Data has also been generated indicating activity of

THALOMID in renal cell cancer and malignant melanoma.

Celgene currently is evaluating the safety and efficacy of

THALOMID for the treatment of these two diseases, and,

given the satisfactory outcome of the required studies, 

the evaluations could lead to an additional regulatory 

submissions. Also, clinical trials of THALOMID in prostate

cancer are ongoing at the National Cancer Institute and 

at M.D. Anderson Cancer Center. 
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D-MPH

During 2000, we licensed d-methylphenidate (d-MPH), our chirally pure 

version of dl-methylphenidate (dl-MPH) marketed under the trade name

Ritalin®, to Novartis Pharma AG in exchange for substantial 

milestone payments and royalties on both d-MPH and the entire 

Ritalin product line. Additionally, in our agreement

with Novartis, we retained the right to market d-MPH

to oncologists for chemotherapy-induced side effects

and disorders affecting the central nervous system.

We submitted our New Drug Application (NDA) for 

d-MPH to the FDA in October 2000. The FDA currently

is reviewing the NDA, and we are hopeful that d-MPH

will be approved and launched later in 2001. In our

pivotal trial, we demonstrated that doses of d-MPH

may potentially extend the duration of activity in 

a clinical setting when compared to dl-MPH. 

We have initiated a new trial to further evaluate 

the duration of action of d-MPH. The objective 

of the new trial is to determine the potential 

effectiveness of d-MPH as a once-a-day therapy.

Helping Children Focus

The Journal of the American Medical Association

has reported that three to six percent of school-

age children have ADD/ADHD. The conditions are

characterized by symptoms of inappropriate 

inattention, hyperactivity and impulsiveness.

It is estimated that between one and two million

children in the U.S. are now being treated for

these conditions. North American sales of drugs

treating the symptoms of ADD and ADHD are

estimated to exceed $600 million per year.

Innovating Life
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Celgro

Celgro, the Company’s wholly owned agrochemical subsidiary, 

develops chirally pure compounds for the agrochemical market. 

Chiral products — pure versions of existing compounds — 

can benefit companies, farmers and consumers because of 

their greater environmental safety, reduced cost and greater

specificity. One of Celgro’s strategies is to extend the patent 

life of agrochemicals by obtaining patents on the chirally 

pure version of the product. An industry leader in biocatalysis,

Celgro uses its proprietary techniques to modify naturally 

occurring biocatalysts (i.e., enzymes) to enhance their ability 

to produce chirally pure compounds on a commercial scale.

Celgro develops specific applications in partnership with 

agrochemical companies and provides licenses for these 

applications under Celgene patents. Celgro is also exploiting 

its expertise in chiral chemistry and molecular biology to 

identify new and improved agrochemical molecules. 

Celgro is located in a state-of-the-art R&D facility at 

the Technology Centre of New Jersey in North Brunswick.

Our chiral technology can be enabling in 

agrochemical applications because it has the

potential to significantly lower manufacturing

cost, an important factor in the agricultural

industry. Compared to our biocatalytic process,

conventional technologies require more raw

materials and greater plant capacity to produce

the same effective quantity of product while

other chiral technologies may require specialized

equipment, more expensive chiral agents,

more raw material and greater capacity for 

handling hazardous wastes produced in 

the separation process.

Enabling Technology in
Agrochemical Applications
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Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The following Selected Consolidated Financial Data should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements
and the related Notes thereto, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and
other financial information included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The data set forth below with respect to our Consolidated
Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 and the Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2000
and 1999 are derived from our Consolidated Financial Statements which are included elsewhere in this Annual Report and are
qualified by reference to such Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes thereto. Our historical results are not neces-
sarily indicative of future results of operations.

On August 31, 2000, we completed our merger with Signal Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Signal) which was accounted for as a pool-
ing-of-interests. All prior period consolidated financial statements of Celgene have been restated to include the results of opera-
tions, financial position, and cash flows of Signal.

Years Ended December 31,
In thousands, except per share data 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Total revenue $084,249 $(37,958 $(19,215 $0(8,701 $0(4,815
Costs and operating expenses 118,558 68,623 56,644 39,654 29,119
Interest income/(expense), net 15,496 (1,990) 1,050 193 1,037
Tax benefit 1,810 3,018 — — —

Loss from continuing operations (17,003) (29,637) (36,379) (30,760) (23,267)
Preferred stock dividend (including

accretion and imputed dividends) — 818 25 1,474 3,791

Loss from continuing operations applicable
to common stockholders $((17,003) $(30,455) $(36,404) $(32,234) $(27,058)

Per share of common stock—basic and diluted:
Loss from continuing operations applicable

to common stockholders(1) $(0.25) $00(0.59) $00(0.75) $00(0.87) $00(0.95)

Weighted average number of shares of
common stock outstanding(1) 66,598 51,449 48,811 36,900 28,561

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data: 
Cash and cash equivalents, and marketable securities $306,162 $(28,947 $(18,076 $(34,449 $(23,275
Total assets 346,726 46,873 31,486 42,055 29,985
Long-term obligations under capital leases

and equipment notes payable 633 1,828 2,656 1,899 2,746
Convertible debentures — — — — 2,026
Convertible notes 11,714 38,495 8,349 — —
Accumulated deficit (220,455) (204,170) (173,715) (144,266) (111,604)
Stockholders’ equity (deficit) 295,533 (9,727) 8,393 30,589 17,577

(1) Amounts are adjusted for the three-for-one stock split effected in April 2000.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview 
We were organized in 1980 as a unit of Celanese Corporation,
a chemical company. Our initial mandate was to apply
biotechnology to the production of fine and specialty chemicals.
Following the 1986 merger of Celanese Corporation with
American Hoechst Corporation, we were spun off as an 
independent biopharmaceutical company. In July 1987, we 
completed an initial public offering of our common stock and
commenced the research and development of chemical and
biotreatment processes for the chemical and pharmaceutical
industries. We discontinued the biotreatment operations in
1994 to focus on our targeted small molecule cancer and
immunology compound development programs and our 
biocatalytic chiral chemistry program.

Between 1990 and 1998, our revenue had been generated
primarily through the development and supply of chirally pure
intermediates to pharmaceutical companies for use in new
drug development and, to a lesser degree, from agrochemical
research and development contracts. However, as revenue
from THALOMID sales, license agreements and milestone
payments related to our cancer and immunology programs
increased, sales of chirally pure intermediates became a less
integral part of our strategic focus. Accordingly, on January 9,
1998, we completed the sale of our chiral intermediates 
business to Cambrex Corporation for $15.0 million. Terms 
of the sale provided for a payment to Celgene of $7.5 million
at closing and future royalties on product sales not to exceed
the net present value on the initial date of the sale of 
$7.5 million, with a guarantee of certain minimum payments
to Celgene beginning in the third year following the close of
the agreement.

In July 1998, we received approval from the FDA to 
market THALOMID for use in ENL, a side effect of leprosy,
and in late September 1998, we commenced sales of 
THALOMID in the United States. Sales have grown rapidly
each year since the launch and in 2000, we recorded net sales
of THALOMID of $62.0 million.

On February 16, 2000, we completed a follow-on public
offering to sell 10,350,000 shares of our common stock at a
price of $33.67 per share. 8,802,000 shares were for our account
and 1,548,000 were for the account of a selling shareholder 
pursuant to the conversion of $9,288,000 of the 9%, January
1999 convertible notes held by that shareholder. Proceeds to 
the Company, net of offering expenses, were approximately
$278.0 million.

On April 19, 2000, we signed a license and development
agreement with Novartis Pharma AG in which we granted 
to Novartis a world wide license for d-methylphenidate, our
chirally pure version of Ritalin. The agreement provides for 
up to $100 million in upfront and milestone payments based
on achieving various regulatory approvals and royalties on 
the entire family of Ritalin products upon approval of d-MPH 
by the FDA. We have retained the rights for the use of 
d-MPH in oncology indications.

On August 31, 2000, we completed a merger, accounted
for as a pooling-of-interests, with Signal Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,

(“Signal”), a privately held biopharmaceutical company
focused on the discovery and development of drugs that 
regulate genes associated with disease.

We have sustained losses in each year since our inception
as an independent biopharmaceutical company in 1986. In
2000, we had a net loss applicable to common stockholders of
$16.3 million and at December 31, 2000, had an accumulated
deficit of $220.5 million. We expect to make substantial
expenditures to further develop and commercialize THALOMID,
develop our other oncology and immunological disease 
programs, and advance the drug discovery and development
programs at Signal. We also expect increased sales of THALO-
MID, revenues from various research collaborations and
license agreements with other pharmaceutical and biopharma-
ceutical companies, and continued investment income.

Subject to the risks described elsewhere in this Annual
Report, we believe there are significant market opportunities
for the pharmaceutical products and processes under develop-
ment by us. To address these and potential future opportunities
in a timely and competitive manner, we intend to seek out
drug discovery and development collaborations and licensing
arrangements with third parties. We have entered into agree-
ments covering the manufacture and distribution for us of 
certain compounds, such as THALOMID, and the develop-
ment by us of processes for producing chirally pure crop 
protection agents for license to agrochemical manufacturers.
The latter development activities are performed through
Celgro Corporation, our wholly owned agrochemical subsidiary.

We have established a commercial sales, marketing and
customer service organization to sell and support THALOMID
and as of February 15, 2001, we employ 98 persons in this
capacity. We intend to develop and market our own pharma-
ceuticals for indications with economically accessible patient
populations in our disease franchises. For drugs with indica-
tions outside the oncology and immunological disease fields
and for larger patient populations, we anticipate partnering
with other pharmaceutical companies. We currently partner
with companies such as Novartis for the development and
commercialization of our chirally pure pharmaceutical and
agrochemical products. We expect these arrangements typically
will include some combination of license fees, milestone 
payments, reimbursement of research and development
expenses and royalty arrangements. We also may acquire 
products or companies to expand our product portfolio and to
augment our development and commercialization resources.

Future operating results will depend on many factors,
including demand for our products, regulatory approvals of 
our products, the timing of the introduction and market
acceptance of new products by us or competing companies,
the timing of research and development milestones and our
ability to control costs.

Results of Operations 
Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998

Total revenue. Our total revenue for the year ended December

18



C e l g e n e  C o r p o r a t i o n

31, 2000 increased 122% to $84.2 million compared with
$38.0 million for the same period in 1999. Revenue in 2000
consisted of net THALOMID sales of $62.0 million, research
contract revenue of $15.9 million and related party collabora-
tive agreement revenue of $6.3 million compared with net
THALOMID sales of $24.1 million, research contract revenue
of $9.4 million and revenue from related party collaborative
agreements of $4.5 million in 1999. The growth in THALOMID
sales primarily is related to increased use in oncology.
Research contract revenue increased in 2000 primarily as a
result of the recognition of $4.6 million of the $10.0 million
nonrefundable upfront license fee payment received in 
connection with a collaborative agreement entered into with
Novartis Pharma AG in April 2000, and a $5.0 million mile-
stone payment related to the same agreement with Novartis.
Total revenue in 1999 increased significantly to approximately
$38.0 million from $19.2 million in 1998. The increase primarily
was the result of our first full year of product sales of 
THALOMID in 1999 of approximately $24.1 million compared
with $3.3 million of THALOMID sales in 1998 following FDA
marketing approval in July 1998. Revenue from research con-
tracts decreased to $9.4 million in 1999 from $12.9 million in
1998, while related party collaborative agreements increased
to $4.5 million in 1999 from $3.0 million in 1998. The
decrease in research contract revenue was primarily due to 
the termination of the Tanabe agreement in 1998.

Cost of goods sold. Cost of goods sold in the year ended
December 31, 2000, was approximately $9.3 million compared
with approximately $3.0 million in 1999. The increase in cost
of goods sold reflects the higher volume of THALOMID sales
in 2000. In addition, the cost of goods sold during the first
quarter of 2000 and the full year of 1999 does not reflect raw
material or formulation and encapsulation costs of THALOMID,
as these costs were incurred and charged as research and
development expenses prior to receiving FDA marketing
approval. Increase in cost of goods sold for 1999 compared 
to 1998 is primarily the result of increased sales volume.

Research and development expenses. Research and develop-
ment expenses increased by 45% for the year ended December
31, 2000 to approximately $52.7 million compared to $36.4
million in 1999. The increase was primarily due to spending
for preclinical toxicology and pharmacology studies and phase
I and phase II clinical trials for our SelCIDs and IMiDs, com-
pletion of the pivotal clinical trials and preparation for filing
the NDA for d-methylphenidate (d-MPH), our chirally pure
version of Ritalin, and preclinical product development for our
SERM (selective estrogen receptor modulators) cancer program.

Additionally, there was an increase in the recognition of
compensation expense recorded for stock options granted by
Signal during the first quarter of 2000. Research and develop-
ment expenses for 1999 increased approximately 3% to $36.4
million from $35.3 million in 1998. Increased spending for
clinical trials, primarily for d-MPH, and research and preclinical
development of drug leads in our kinase and SERM programs
was offset by a decrease in regulatory consulting fees, university
research program spending, and production of THALOMID
capsules which was charged as research and development

expense prior to receiving FDA marketing approval in July 
of 1998.

Selling, general and administrative expenses. Selling, general
and administrative expenses for 2000 increased 70% to 
$49.9 million from $29.2 million in 1999. The increase was
due primarily to the expansion of our sales and marketing
organization and related expenses, and spending for customer
service, warehousing and distribution, all to support the
growth in THALOMID sales. Selling, general and administra-
tive expenses for 1999 increased by 39% over 1998, from
approximately $21.0 million to approximately $29.2 million.
The increase was primarily in sales and marketing expenses,
warehousing and distribution expenses and expenditures 
relating to medical affairs and drug safety costs, all to support
the commercialization and distribution of THALOMID.

Merger-related costs. We incurred one-time costs of $6.7 million
associated with the merger with Signal Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
in 2000. These costs were primarily related to fees for financial
advisors, accountants, lawyers and financial printers.

Interest income and interest expense. Interest income in 2000
increased significantly to $17.6 million from $1.3 million in
1999. The increase was due to the investment of the net 
proceeds of approximately $278.0 million from the follow-on
public offering in February 2000, and $10.0 million received
from Novartis Pharma AG in July 2000 related to the license
and development agreement entered into in the second quarter
of 2000. Interest income for 1999 of $1.3 million was slightly
lower than the $1.8 million in 1998 as average cash balances
were lower in 1999.

Interest expense decreased significantly in 2000 to $2.1
million from $3.3 million in 1999. The decrease was primarily
the result of the conversion to equity of a significant portion
of the outstanding long-term convertible notes throughout
2000. Also, in September 2000, we entered into an agreement
with the remaining convertible note holders which allows the
note holders to take a “short position” in our common stock.
In return the note holders waive the right to the receipt of any
interest after the effective date of August 24, 2000. Interest
expense in 1999 was significantly higher than 1998, at 
approximately $3.3 million compared with approximately 
$0.7 million in 1998. The higher interest expense resulted
from the interest incurred on the three convertible notes
issued in September 1998, January 1999 and July 1999.

Loss from continuing operations. The loss from continuing
operations decreased 43% to $17.0 million in 2000 from 
$29.6 million in 1999. The decreased loss was primarily the
result of higher THALOMID sales and increased revenues
from research contracts and collaborative agreements partially
offset by higher cost of goods sold, research and development
expenses, selling, general and administrative expenses and
one-time merger-related costs. The loss from continuing 
operations decreased 19% in 1999 compared with 1998, to
approximately $29.6 million from approximately $36.4 million.
The decreased loss resulted from the higher gross profit on
THALOMID sales and an income tax benefit of $3.0 million
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(thousands of dollars) 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 Total Fair Value

Fixed Rate $88,235 $25,550 $15,400 — $8,000 $6,557 $143,742 $144,768
Average Interest Rate 6.56% 6.73% 6.84% — 6.875% 7.125% 6.66% —

At December 31, 2000, our 9% January 1999 and July 1999 convertible notes with outstanding principal amounts of $1,713,600
and $10,000,000, respectively no longer accrue interest. These convertible notes are convertible into the Company’s common
stock at a conversion price $6.00 and $6.33 per share, respectively. The fair value of fixed interest rate instruments are affected 
by changes in interest rates and in the case of the convertible notes by changes in the price of the Company’s common stock. 
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from the sale of a portion of our New Jersey state net operating
loss carryforwards, offset in part by increased selling, general
and administrative costs and higher interest expense.

Loss from discontinued operations. The loss from discontinued
operations of $60,000 in 1998 resulted from the sale of the 
chiral intermediates business in January of 1998. The Company
recorded a gain on the sale of the chiral intermediate business
of approximately $7.0 million in 1998.

Liquidity and Capital Resources 
Since our inception in 1986, we have financed our working
capital requirements primarily through private and public
sales of our debt and equity securities, income earned on the
investment of the proceeds from the sale of such securities
and revenues from research contracts and product sales. In
February 2000, we raised approximately $278.0 million in a
follow-on public offering of our common stock. We also
received $20.0 million from two separate research and 
license agreements during 2000. Prior to 2000, we had raised
approximately $100.0 million in net proceeds from three 
public and three private offerings, including our initial public
offering in July 1987. We also issued convertible notes in
September 1998, January 1999, and July 1999 with net 
proceeds aggregating approximately $38.0 million.

Our net working capital at December 31, 2000 increased
significantly to approximately $298.2 million (primarily cash
and cash equivalents and marketable securities available for
sale) from approximately $22.5 million at December 31, 1999.
The increase in working capital was primarily due to the cash
received from the proceeds of the follow-on offering in
February 2000, funds received from research and collaborative
agreements, as well as collection of receivables on sales of
THALOMID.

Cash and cash equivalents increased to $161.4 million 
in 2000 from $21.9 million in 1999 while investments in 
marketable securities increased to $144.8 million in 2000 from
$7.1 million in 1999. This reflects the receipt of funds from
the follow-on offering, revenue received from research con-
tracts and collection of receivables from sales of THALOMID.

We expect that our rate of spending will increase as the
result of research and product development spending at Signal,
increased clinical trial costs, increased expenses associated
with the regulatory approval process and commercialization of
products currently in development, increased costs related to 
the commercialization of THALOMID and increased capital
investments. On February 16, 2000, we completed a public
offering of 10,350,000 shares of our common stock. Proceeds

to Celgene from the transaction net of expenses, were 
approximately $278.0 million. These funds, combined 
with the increasing revenue from sales of THALOMID and
various research agreements and collaborations are expected 
to provide sufficient capital for our operations for the 
foreseeable future.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards
On January 1, 2001, we adopted the provisions of Statement 
of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 138, Accounting
for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging
Activities – an amendment of SFAS No. 133 and SFAS No.
133, Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and
Certain Hedging Activities. SFAS No. 138 amends the
accounting and reporting standards of SFAS No. 133 for 
certain derivative instruments and certain hedging activities.
SFAS No. 133 requires a company to recognize all derivative
instruments as assets or liabilities in its balance sheet and
measure them at fair value. We do not expect the adoption 
of these statements to have a material impact on our consoli-
dated financial position, results of operations or cash flows, 
as we are currently not party to any derivative instruments.

Market Risk
Our holdings of financial instruments comprise a mix of 
securities that may include U.S. corporate debt, U.S. 
government debt, and commercial paper. All such instruments
are classified as securities available for sale. Generally, we do
not invest in portfolio equity securities or commodities or use
financial derivatives for trading purposes. Our debt security
portfolio represents funds held temporarily pending use in our
business and operations. We manage these funds accordingly.
We seek reasonable assuredness of the safety of principal and
market liquidity by investing in investment grade fixed
income securities while at the same time seeking to achieve 
a favorable rate of return. Our market risk exposure consists
principally of exposure to changes in interest rates. Our 
holdings are also exposed to the risks of changes in the credit
quality of issuers. We invest in securities that have a range of
maturity dates. Typically, those with a short-term maturity
are fixed-rate, highly liquid, debt instruments and those with
longer-term maturities are highly liquid debt instruments
with fixed interest rates or with periodic interest rate 
adjustments. Due to the limited number of foreign currency
transactions, our foreign exchange currency risk is minimal.
The table below presents the principal amounts and related
weighted average interest rates by year of maturity for our
investment portfolio as of December 31, 2000:
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Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Celgene Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Celgene Corporation 
and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the related consolidated statements 
of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the years in the 
three- year period ended December 31, 2000. These consolidated financial statements are 
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

The consolidated financial statements of Celgene Corporation and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 1999 and for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, have been 
restated to reflect the pooling-of-interests transaction with Signal Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 
as described in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. We did not audit the 1999 
and 1998 financial statements of Signal Pharmaceuticals, Inc., which statements reflect 
total assets constituting 31% in 1999 and total revenues constituting 31% and 80% in 
1999 and 1998, respectively, of the related consolidated totals. Those statements were 
audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, 
insofar as it relates to the amounts included for Signal Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of 
December 31, 1999 and for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, is based solely 
on the report of the other auditors.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits and the report of the
other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of the other auditors, the consolidated
financial statements referred to in the first paragraph present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Celgene Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000 
and 1999, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in 
the three-year period ended December 31, 2000, in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Short Hills, New Jersey
February 1, 2001
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 

2000 1999*

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $161,393,835 $21,869,256
Marketable securities available for sale 144,767,777 7,077,314
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $382,577 and $121,437 at

December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively 9,846,000 5,037,431
Inventory 4,266,257 2,456,059
Other current assets 11,747,727 1,322,996

Total current assets 332,021,596 37,763,056
Plant and equipment, net 8,395,902 5,741,389
Other assets 6,308,417 3,368,090

Total assets $346,725,915 $46,872,535

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $010,868,473 $03,254,823
Accrued expenses 9,511,507 7,284,343
Current portion of capital leases and note obligation 929,258 1,307,467
Current portion of deferred revenue 12,473,574 3,449,790

Total current liabilities 33,782,812 15,296,423
Long term convertible notes 11,713,600 38,494,795
Capitalized leases and note obligation, net of current portion 632,946 1,828,221
Deferred revenue, net of current portion 4,866,000 650,002
Other non-current liabilities 197,685 329,918

Total liabilities 51,193,043 56,599,359

Stockholders’ equity (deficit):
Preferred stock, $.01 par value per share 5,000,000 authorized; none

outstanding at December 31, 2000 and 1999 — —
Signal convertible preferred stock, 24,742,639 shares authorized; issued

and outstanding none and 24,492,639 shares at December 31, 2000 and
1999, respectively — 41,330,800

Common stock, $.01 par value per share 120,000,000 shares authorized;
issued and outstanding 73,999,889 and 17,858,476 shares at
December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively 739,999 178,584

Additional paid-in capital 519,290,323 154,393,662
Accumulated deficit (220,454,722) (204,170,352)
Deferred compensation (4,890,607) (1,272,014)
Notes receivable from stockholders (62,000) (95,600)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 909,879 (91,904)

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 295,532,872 (9,726,824)

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit) $346,725,915 $46,872,535

* Restated-see note 1

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31, 

2000 1999* 1998*

Revenue:
Product sales $(62,017,411 $(24,052,124 $0(3,265,490
Research contracts 15,882,112 9,380,825 12,949,242
Related-party collaborative 

agreement revenue 6,349,996 4,525,000 3,000,000

Total revenue 84,249,519 37,957,949 19,214,732

Expenses:
Cost of goods sold 9,328,275 2,982,713 282,307
Research and development 52,711,609 36,393,756 35,344,580
Selling, general and administrative 49,850,550 29,246,777 21,016,748
Merger-related costs 6,668,110 — —

Total expenses 118,558,544 68,623,246 56,643,635

Operating loss (34,309,025) (30,665,297) (37,428,903)

Other income and expense:
Interest income 17,576,856 1,301,803 1,758,069
Interest expense 2,080,981 3,291,364 708,441

Loss before tax benefit (18,813,150) (32,654,858) (36,379,275)
Tax benefit 1,809,677 3,017,910 —

Loss from continuing operations (17,003,473) (29,636,948) (36,379,275)
Discontinued operations:

Loss from operations — — (59,837)
Gain on sale of chiral assets 719,103 — 7,014,830

Net loss (16,284,370) (29,636,948) (29,424,282)
Accretion of premium payable on 

preferred stock and warrants — — 24,648
Deemed dividend for preferred stock 

conversion discount — 818,487 —

Net loss applicable to 
common stockholders $(16,284,370) $(30,455,435) $(29,448,930)

Per share of common stock - basic and diluted:
Loss from continuing operations $00000((0.25) $00000((0.59) $00000((0.75)
Discontinued operations:

Loss from operations — — (0.00)
Gain on sale of chiral assets 0.01 — 0.14

Net loss applicable to 
common stockholders $00000((0.24) $00000((0.59) $00000((0.60)

Weighted average number of shares of 
common stock outstanding 66,598,000 51,449,000 48,811,000

* Restated-see note 1

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Years ended December 31, 2000, 1999* and 1998*

24

Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount

Balances at January 1, 1998 74 $4,029,455 24,203,931 $39,519,431 15,539,270 $155,392
Exercise of stock options and warrants                                                      426,982 4,270
Issuance of common stock for technology 11,103         111
Deferred compensation
Amortization of deferred compensation
Costs related to secondary offering
Conversion of preferred stock (74)      (4,054,103)                                575,669       5,757
Accretion of premium on preferred stock 24,648
Issuance of common stock for employee benefit plans 8,317          83
Sale of common stock 199,688 1,997
Comprehensive loss:

Net loss
Net change in unrealized gain (loss) on 

available for sale securities

Total comprehensive loss 

Balances at December 31, 1998 —       $000000—    24,203,931   $39,519,431 16,761,029   $167,610     
Exercise of stock options and warrants 1,015,471 10,154
Issuance of Series F-1 preferred stock 288,708       992,882
Imputed dividend on Series F-1 preferred stock 818,487
Issuance of common stock and options for services 60           1
Deferred compensation
Amortization of deferred compensation
Expense related to non-employee stock options
Issuance of common stock for employee benefit plans 81,916         819 
Issuance of options related to license agreement
Comprehensive loss:

Net loss
Net change in unrealized gain (loss) on 

available for sale securities

Total comprehensive loss

Balances at December 31, 1999 —       $000000—    24,492,639   $41,330,800 17,858,476 $178,584
Exercise of stock options and warrants 2,424,930 24,250
Issuance of common stock for employee benefit plans 40,394 404 
Issuance of common stock in follow-on offering 2,934,000     29,340                       
Costs related to follow-on offering
Conversion of long term convertible notes 4,358,260     43,583                       
Shares issued for stock split 43,305,104    433,051                         
Conversion of Signal preferred stock (24,492,639)      (41,330,800) 3,078,725 30,787
Deferred compensation
Amortization of deferred compensation
Expense related to non-employee stock options
Collection of notes receivable from stockholders
Issuance of Signal preferred stock warrants for

promissory note
Comprehensive loss:

Net loss
Net change in unrealized gain (loss) on  

available for sale securities

Total comprehensive loss

Balances at December 31, 2000 — $000000— — $0000000— 73,999,889   $739,999    

* Restated-see note 1

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Signal convertible
Preferred stock preferred stock Common stock
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Accumulated
Notes other

Additional receivable comprehensive
paid-in Accumulated Deferred from income

Shares Amount capital deficit compensation stockholders (loss) Total

(22,888) $(76,535)   $131,690,219     $(144,265,987)   $0,(511,510) $00000— $048,341 $030,588,806
3,136,394 (95,600) 3,045,064

726,889 727,000
1,019,170                         (1,019,170) —

607,788 607,788
(73,136) (73,136)

4,048,346 —
(24,648) —

22,888 76,535         387,070 463,688
2,498,003 2,500,000

(29,424,282) (29,424,282)

(42,115)          (42,115)

(29,466,397)

—       $0000 —    $143,432,955 $(173,714,917) $0,(922,892) $(95,600) $006,226 $008,392,813
8,415,647 8,425,801

992,882
(818,487) —

4,271 4,272
1,024,244 (1,024,244) —

675,122 675,122
20,646 20,646

799,004 799,823
696,895 696,895

(29,636,948) (29,636,948)

(98,130) (98,130)

(29,735,078)

— $0000 — $154,393,662 $(204,170,352) $(1,272,014) $(95,600) $(91,904) $0(9,726,824)
10,433,512 10,457,762
1,047,351 1,047,755

278,524,620 278,553,960
(885,160) (885,160)

26,780,983 26,824,566
(433,051) —

41,301,823 1,810
6,706,274 (6,706,274) —

3,087,681 3,087,681
970,309 970,309

33,600 33,600

450,000 450,000

(16,284,370) (16,284,370)

1,001,783 1,001,783

(15,282,587)

—     $0000 —      $519,290,323 $(220,454,722) $(4,890,607) $(62,000)    $909,879 $295,532,872

Treasury stock
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31, 

2000 1999* 1998*

Cash flows from operating activities:
Loss from continuing operations $((17,003,473) $(29,636,948) $(36,379,275)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss from continuing 

operations to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization of long-term assets 3,722,467 3,038,222 2,394,197
Provision for accounts receivable allowances 130,000 58,051 43,386
Non-cash stock-based compensation 4,057,990 700,040 614,788
Amortization of debt issuance and warrant costs 700,000 250,000 —
Amortization of discount on note obligations 274,848 192,978 47,142
Shares issued for employee benefit plans 1,047,755 799,823 463,688

Change in current assets and liabilities:
Increase in accounts receivable (4,938,569) (2,285,845) (1,332,190)
Increase in inventory (1,810,198) (884,651) (1,571,408)
Increase in other operating assets (10,649,979) (393,863) (291,164)
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses 9,793,831 2,469,216 4,614,073
Increase(decrease) in deferred revenue 13,239,782 2,068,693 (2,334,111)

Net cash used in continuing operations (1,435,546) (23,624,284) (33,730,874)
Net cash used in discontinued operations — — (59,837)

Net cash used in operating activities (1,435,546) (23,624,284) (33,790,711)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (9,637,333) (1,875,072) (2,188,910)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities available for sale 139,575,925 17,781,948 29,776,137
Purchases of marketable securities available for sale (276,264,605) (16,444,276) (26,201,862)
Proceeds from sale of chiral intermediate assets 719,103 — 7,500,000
Purchase of license rights — (450,000) (280,000)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (145,606,910) (987,400) 8,605,365

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from follow-on public offering 277,668,800 — (73,136)
Proceeds from sale of stock — — 2,500,000
Proceeds from notes receivable from stockholders 33,600 — —
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options and warrants 10,457,762 8,425,801 3,045,064
Net proceeds from issuance of preferred stock — 992,882 —
Repayment of capital lease and note obligations (1,593,127) (1,751,059) (1,652,334)
Capital lease funding — — 260,195
Debt issuance costs — (750,000) —
Net proceeds from issuance of convertible notes — 30,000,000 8,348,959

Net cash provided by financing activities 286,567,035 36,917,624 12,428,748

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 139,524,579 12,305,940 (12,756,598)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 21,869,256 9,563,316 22,319,914

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $161,393,835 $(21,869,256 $0(9,563,316

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activity:
Change in net unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities available for sale $001,001,783 $000,(98,130) $000,(42,115)

Issuance of options related to license agreement $00000000(— $000696,895 $000720,000

Capital lease obligations entered into for equipment $00000000(— $000526,128 $0,2,343,033

Issuance of common stock for promissory notes from stockholders $00000000(— $,0000000(— $000095,600

Issuance of common stock upon the conversion of
convertible notes and accrued interest thereon, net $026,737,824 $,0000000(— $,0000000(—

Accretion of premium payable on preferred stock and warrants $00000000(— $,0000000(— $ 24,648

Deemed dividend for preferred stock conversion discount $00000000(— $ 818,487 $,0000000(—

Issuance of common stock upon the conversion of
convertible preferred stock and Signal preferred stock $041,330,800 $,0000000(— $0(4,054,103

Deferred compensation relating to stock options $006,706,274 $0(1,024,244 $0(1,019,170

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Interest paid $003,114,144 $0(1,957,325 $0(0,415,228

Cash received related to tax benefit $001,089,677 $0(3,017,910 $,0000000(—

* Restated-see note 1
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998

Celgene Corporation and its subsidiaries (collectively “Celgene” or the “Company”) is 
an independent biopharmaceutical company engaged in the discovery, development and 
commercialization of novel human pharmaceuticals for the treatment of cancer and 
immunological diseases. The Company’s primary therapeutic focus is on the development 
of orally administered, small molecule pharmaceuticals that regulate tumor necrosis factor
alpha, or TNF�, and are anti-angiogenic. TNF� has been linked to the cause and symptoms 
of many chronic inflammatory and immunological diseases. Anti-angiogenic drugs inhibit 
the growth of undesirable blood vessels, including those that promote tumor growth. 
The Company’s lead product, THALOMID™ (thalidomide), was approved for sale in the
United States by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, (“FDA”), on July 16, 1998. 
THALOMID is approved for the treatment of erythema nodosum leprosum, (“ENL”), an
inflammatory complication of leprosy. The Company’s cancer and immunology pharmaceutical
pipeline is highlighted by two classes of novel and proprietary oral therapeutic agents, IMiDs,
or ImmunoModulatory Drugs, and SelCIDs, or Selective Cytokine Inhibitory Drugs. Both
classes are being developed for the treatment of cancer, chronic inflammatory diseases, such as
inflammatory bowel disease and rheumatoid arthritis, and other diseases of the immune system.

On August 31, 2000, the Company completed its merger with Signal Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. (“Signal”), a privately held San Diego-based biopharmaceutical company focused on the
discovery and development of drugs that regulate genes associated with disease. The Company
issued 3,710,144 shares of its common stock for all the outstanding common shares of Signal
at an exchange ratio of .1257 of a share of Celgene common stock for each share of Signal
common stock. Immediately prior to the consummation of the merger, all Signal preferred
shares were converted into Signal common shares on a one-for-one basis. In addition, Celgene
issued 380,607 options for all the Signal options outstanding at the closing date.

The merger was accounted for as a pooling-of-interests. All prior period consolidated
financial statements of Celgene have been restated to include the results of operations, 
financial position and cash flows of Signal.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Celgene Corporation and
its subsidiaries. All inter-company transactions have been eliminated. The preparation of the
consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
The Company is subject to certain risks and uncertainties such as uncertainty of product
development, uncertainties regarding regulatory approval, no assurance of market acceptance
of products, risk of product liability, uncertain scope of patent and proprietary rights, intense
competition, and rapid technological change. THALOMID is the Company’s only FDA
approved product for sale. Currently, the Company obtains all of its bulk drug substance for
THALOMID from a single supplier and relies on a single manufacturer to formulate and
encapsulate THALOMID.

(a) Cash Equivalents
At December 31, 2000 and 1999, cash equivalents consisted principally of highly liquid

funds invested in commercial paper, money market funds, and United States government
securities such as treasury bills and notes. These instruments are stated at cost, which
approximates market because of the short maturity of these investments.
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(b) Marketable Securities
All of the Company’s marketable securities are classified as securities available for sale 

in current assets and are carried at fair value. Such securities are held for an indefinite period 
of time and are intended to be used to meet the ongoing liquidity needs of the Company.
Unrealized gains and losses (which are deemed to be temporary), if any, are reported in a 
separate component of stockholders’ equity. The cost of the debt securities is adjusted for
amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity. The amortization, along
with realized gains and losses, is included in interest income. The cost of securities is based
on the specific identification method.

(c) Concentration of Credit Risk 
Cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities are financial instruments that 

potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk. The Company invests its
excess cash primarily in U.S. government securities and marketable debt securities of financial
institutions and corporations with strong credit ratings. The Company also has established
guidelines relative to diversification and maturities to maintain safety and liquidity. These
guidelines are reviewed periodically and may be modified to take advantage of trends in yields
and interest rates. Pursuant to Company practice, the Company has historically held the
investments to maturity. However, the Company has the ability to sell these investments
before maturity and has therefore classified the investments as available for sale. The
Company has not experienced any significant losses on its investments.

(d) Inventory
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or market using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)

method.

(e) Long-Lived Assets
Plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of plant and equipment is provided

using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives of fixed assets are as follows:

Laboratory equipment and machinery 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Computer equipment 3 years

Amortization of leasehold improvements is calculated using the straight-line method
over the remaining term of the lease or the life of the asset, whichever is shorter.
Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred, while renewals and 
improvements are capitalized.

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 121,
Accounting for Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed 
of, the Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in
business circumstances occur that indicate the carrying amount of the assets may not be
recoverable. The Company assesses the recoverability of long-lived assets held and to be 
used based on undiscounted cash flows and measures the impairment, if any, using discounted
cash flows.

(f) Other Assets
Other assets include capitalized costs associated with a new customer service system,

certain patent rights and licensed technology. Costs associated with the customer service 
system, which was primarily developed and implemented during 2000, were capitalized in
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accordance with Statement of Position No. 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software
Developed and Obtained for Internal Use, and is amortized over its estimated useful life of
three years from the date the system was ready for its intended use. At December 31, 2000,
computer software costs totaled approximately $4.4 million which is net of $0.5 million in
accumulated amortization. The cost of patent rights is amortized using the straight-line
method over the life of the patents. The weighted average remaining patent life at December
31, 2000 is 11 years. Licensed technology is stated at cost and depreciated over the estimated
useful life of three years using the straight-line method. At December 31, 2000 and 1999,
patent rights and licensed technology totaled $1.3 million and $1.7 million, respectively,
which is net of $1.2 million and $0.4 million in accumulated amortization, respectively.

(g) Research and Development Costs
All research and development costs are expensed as incurred.

(h) Income Taxes 
The Company utilizes the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes.

Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference
between the financial statement carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities using
enacted tax rates in effect for years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse.

Research and development tax credits will be recognized as a reduction of the provision
for income taxes when realized.

(i) Revenue Recognition
Revenue from the sale of products is recognized upon product shipment. Revenue under

research contracts is recorded as earned under the contracts, generally as services are provided.
In accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, upfront nonrefundable fees 
associated with license and development agreements where the Company has continuing
involvement in the agreement, are recorded as deferred revenue and recognized over the 
estimated service period. If the estimated service period is subsequently modified, the period
over which the upfront fee is recognized is modified accordingly on a prospective basis.
Revenues from the achievement of research and development milestones are recognized when
and if the milestones are achieved. Continuation of certain contracts and grants are dependent
upon the Company achieving specific contractual milestones; however, none of the payments
received to date are refundable regardless of the outcome of the project. Grant revenue is 
recognized in accordance with the terms of the grant and as services are performed, and gener-
ally equals the related research and development expense.

Axys Pharmaceutical (“Axys”) is a related party, as the previous Chief Executive Officer 
of Axys served on the Signal Board of Directors at the time Signal and Axys entered into a 
collaboration agreement prior to the merger with Celgene. Accordingly, related party revenues
of $2.5 million and $625,000 were recorded in 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Serono S.A. (“Serono”) is a related party, based on its ownership interest in Signal at the
time Signal and Serono entered into a collaboration agreement. Therefore, revenues from
Serono of $3.8 million, $3.9 million and $3.0 million were recognized in 2000, 1999 and 1998,
respectively, as related party revenue.

As a result of the merger, revenues from these companies will cease being classified as
related party upon the expiration of the initial term of the respective agreements.

(j) Stock Option Plans 
The Company applies the intrinsic value-based method of accounting prescribed by

Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to
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Employees, and related interpretations, in accounting for its fixed plan stock options. As such,
compensation expense would be recorded on the date of grant only if the current market price
of the underlying stock exceeded the exercise price. SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation, established accounting and disclosure requirements using a fair value-based
method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation plans. As allowed by SFAS 
No. 123, the Company has elected to continue to apply the intrinsic value-based method of
accounting described above, and has adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123.

When the exercise price of employee or director stock options is less than the fair value 
of the underlying stock on the grant date, the Company records deferred compensation for 
the difference and amortizes this amount to expense over the vesting period of the options.
Options or stock awards issued to non-employees and consultants are recorded at their fair
value as determined in accordance with SFAS No. 123 and EITF No. 96-18, Accounting for
Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in
Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services and recognized over the related vesting period.

(k) Earnings Per Share 
“Basic” earnings (loss) per common share equals net income (loss) applicable to common

stockholders divided by weighted average common shares outstanding during the period.
“Diluted” earnings per common share would equal net income applicable to common 
stockholders divided by the sum of weighted average common shares outstanding during 
the period plus common stock equivalents if dilutive. The Company’s basic and diluted 
per share amounts are the same since the assumed exercise of stock options, and warrants,
and the conversion of convertible debentures and preferred stock are all anti-dilutive. 
The amount of common stock equivalents excluded from the calculation were 11,034,130 
in 2000, 19,373,823 in 1999 and 15,074,727 in 1998.

(l) Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net losses and the change in net unrealized 

gains (losses) on securities classified as available for sale and is presented in the consolidated 
statements of stockholders’ equity (deficit).

(m) Presentation 
In connection with the disposition of the Company’s chiral intermediate operation in 

January 1998 (see Note 15), the financial results applicable to continuing operations exclude
amounts from this discontinued operation.

(n) Financial Instruments and Derivatives 
The fair value, which equals carrying value, of marketable securities available for sale 

is based on quoted market prices. For all other financial instruments, excluding convertible
notes (see Note 8), their carrying value approximates fair value due to the short maturity 
of these instruments.

In June 1998, SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities was issued and, as amended, is effective for all fiscal years beginning after June 15,
2000. SFAS No. 133 standardizes the accounting for derivative instruments including certain
derivative instruments embedded in other contracts and requires derivative instruments to be
recognized as assets and liabilities and recorded at fair value. The Company currently is not
party to any derivative instruments. Any future transactions involving derivative instruments
will be evaluated based on SFAS No. 133.
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(o) Warehousing and Distribution Expenses 
Warehousing and distribution expenses are included in selling, general and administrative

expenses. Warehousing and distribution expenses totaled approximately $4.5 million, 
$3.9 million and $0.4 million in 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

As discussed in Note 1, on August 31, 2000, Celgene completed the merger with Signal in
a transaction accounted for as a pooling-of-interests. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements reflect the combined results of Celgene and Signal as if the merger had been in
effect for all periods presented. The results of operations for the separate companies and the
combined amounts presented in the consolidated financial statements for the periods prior to
the merger follow:

Six Months Year Year
Ended Ended Ended

June 30, December 31, December 31,
2000 1999 1998

(Unaudited)

Revenue:
Celgene $(28,884,836 $(26,209,624 $0(3,800,490
Signal 5,337,008 11,748,325 15,414,242

Combined $(34,221,844 $(37,957,949 $(19,214,732

Net loss:
Celgene $(((3,971,178) $(21,781,200) $(25,067,880)
Signal (8,085,818) (7,855,748) (4,356,402)

Combined $(12,056,996) $(29,636,948) $(29,424,282)

Celgene and Signal incurred direct transaction expenses of approximately $6.7 million
which were recognized upon consummation of the merger. The merger-related costs consisted
of transaction fees for financial advisors, attorneys, accountants, financial printing and other
related charges.

The amortized cost, gross unrealized holding gains, gross unrealized holding losses and
fair value of available for sale securities by major security type at December 31, 2000 and
1999, were as follows 

Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gain Loss Value

December 31, 2000
Government agencies $113,811,071 $411,117 $00((776) $114,221,412
Government bonds & notes 301,758 — (822) 300,936
Corporate debt securities 29,745,069 500,360 — 30,245,429

$143,857,898 $911,477 $0(1,598) $144,767,777

December 31, 1999
Government agencies $002,050,000 $0000,— $(66,325) $001,983,675
Government bonds & notes 2,313,125 — (25,579) 2,287,546
Corporate debt securities 2,806,093 — — 2,806,093

$007,169,218 $0000,— $(91,904) $007,077,314
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Maturities of debt securities classified as available for sale were as follows at December
31, 2000:

Estimated
Amortized Fair

Cost Value

Due within one year $088,275,189 $088,395,791
Due after one year through five years 48,946,682 49,735,959
Due after five years through six years 6,636,027 6,636,027

$143,857,898 $144,767,777

Inventory consists of the following:
December 31, 

2000 1999

Raw materials $0,985,556 $1,411,663
Work in process 1,869,104 647,841
Finished goods 1,411,597 396,555

$4,266,257 $2,456,059

Plant and equipment consists of the following:
December 31, 

2000 1999

Laboratory equipment and machinery $7,896,666 $6,206,768
Leasehold improvements 7,434,963 6,122,955
Computer equipment 2,747,181 2,173,784
Furniture and fixtures 1,224,976 1,074,137
Leased equipment 3,547,378 4,133,963
Construction in progress 2,527,955 219,441

25,379,119 19,931,048
Less: accumulated depreciation 16,983,217 14,189,659

$8,395,902 $5,741,389

Accrued expenses consist of the following:
December 31, 

2000 1999

Professional and consulting fees $1,685,679 $0,940,953
Accrued compensation 4,651,488 3,485,397
Accrued interest, royalties and license fees 1,530,703 2,214,394
Accrued sales returns and rebates 668,680 128,468
Other 974,957 515,131

$9,511,507 $7,284,343
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On September 16, 1998, the Company issued convertible notes to an institutional
investor in the amount of $8,750,000. The notes had a five-year term and a coupon rate of
9.25% with interest payable on a semi-annual basis. The notes contained a conversion feature
that allowed the note holders to convert the notes into common shares at $3.67 per share.
These notes were issued at a discount of $437,500 which was being amortized over three
years. On October 16, 2000, all of the notes were converted into 2,386,387 common shares.

On January 20, 1999, the Company issued to an institutional investor convertible notes
in the amount of $15,000,000. The notes have a five year term and a coupon rate of 9% with
interest payable on a semi-annual basis. The notes contain a conversion feature that allows
the note holders to convert the notes into common shares after one year at $6.00 per share. 
The Company can redeem the notes after three years at 103% of the principal amount (two
years under certain conditions). Issuance costs of $750,000 incurred in connection with these
notes are being amortized over three years. Just prior to the Company’s follow-on offering on
February 16, 2000, a portion of the notes totaling $9,288,000 were converted into 1,548,000
common shares and included in the public offering. On May 17, 2000, an additional
$3,998,400 of the notes were converted into 666,399 common shares and issued to the 
noteholder. At December 31, 2000, the remaining notes have a carrying value of $1,713,600
and are convertible into 285,801 common shares.

On July 6, 1999, the Company issued to a third institutional investor convertible notes 
in the amount of $15,000,000. The notes have a five year term and a coupon rate of 9% with
interest payable on a semi-annual basis. The notes contain a conversion feature that allows
the note holders to convert the notes into common shares after one year at $6.33 per share.
The Company can redeem the notes after three years at 103% of the principal amount (two
years under certain conditions). There was no fee or discount associated with these notes. 
On July 6, 2000, $5,000,000 of the notes were converted into 789,474 common shares. 
At December 31, 2000, the remaining notes have a carrying value of $10,000,000 and are 
convertible into 1,578,876 common shares.

On September 26, 2000, the Company entered into an agreement with the note holders 
of the January 1999 and the July 1999 notes that allows the note holders to take a “short 
position” in the common stock (as defined in the respective Note Purchase Agreements) 
of the Company with certain limitations on transactions resulting in a “short position” 
based upon the level of the stock price. In exchange for the Company consenting to waive 
the provisions that prohibit short sales, the note holders waive the right to the receipt of 
any interest after the effective date of August 24, 2000.

At December 31, 2000 and 1999, the fair value of the Company’s convertible notes
exceeded their carrying value reflecting the increase to $32.50 and $23.33 per share, respec-
tively, in the market value of the Company’s common stock.

In June 2000, the Company issued a secured promissory note for up to $5 million that could
be borrowed against through December 21, 2000, as needed. The proceeds of the note were to 
be used for general corporate purposes and working capital. The interest rate floats with the
Treasury rate until the proceeds are drawn down and then are fixed for the term, maintaining
the spread. The promissory note expired on December 21, 2000 and the Company did not draw
down any proceeds from the note. In conjunction with the issuance of the promissory note, the
Company issued the creditor a warrant to purchase 150,000 shares of Signal C-2 Preferred Stock.
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In November 1996, the Company issued a secured promissory note for $3,000,000. The
proceeds of the note payable were used for general corporate purposes and working capital.
The note payable accrued interest at a rate of 14% and was secured by certain assets of the
Company. The outstanding obligation at December 31, 1999 of approximately $396,000 was
repaid upon its due date during May 2000. In conjunction with the issuance of the promissory
note, the Company issued the creditor a warrant to purchase 250,000 shares of Signal Series
C-1 Preferred Stock.

Preferred Stock
The Board of Directors has the authority to issue, at any time, without further stockholder

approval, up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, and to determine the price, rights, 
privileges, and preferences of those shares.

Series A Convertible Preferred Stock
In a private stock placement during 1996, the Company completed the sale of 503 shares

of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $.01 per share, at an issue price of $50,000
per share. All of the shares of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock with their respective
accrued accretion, had been converted or redeemed into 10,026,606 shares of common stock
at December 31, 1998.

During 1996, the Company issued warrants valued at $138,156, that entitle certain 
holders of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock to purchase 460,521 shares of common
stock at an exercise price of $3.83 per share. The warrants were issued in exchange for the
deferral of conversion for 90 days. All these warrants either expired or were exercised for
10,254 shares of common stock at December 31, 1998. In connection with the private 
placement, the Company also granted to certain executives and affiliates of the placement
agent warrants, valued at $60,168, to purchase an aggregate of 200,559 shares of common stock
at an exercise price of $6.84 per share, subject to proportional adjustment in the event that
the Company undertakes a stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization or similar event. These
warrants are exercisable for a period of five years from the date of issuance. As of December
31, 2000, 105,117 warrants were exercised to purchase 69,966 shares of common stock.

Series B Convertible Preferred Stock 
During 1997, in a private placement, the Company completed the sale of 5,000 shares 

of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series B Preferred”), par value $.01 per share, 
at an issue price of $1,000 per share. The Company received net proceeds, after offering costs 
of $4,840,748. Shares could be converted at an initial conversion price of $2.17 per share. 
All shares of the Series B Preferred had been converted into 2,365,407 shares of common 
stock at December 31, 1998.

Under the terms of the private placement, the Company was obligated to issue 1,557,690
warrants to the investor, with a term of four years from the issuance date of the warrants, to
acquire a number of shares of common stock. As of December 31, 2000, there were a total of
1,207,693 warrants outstanding. All such warrants have an exercise price of $2.50 per share
and expire on June 1, 2002.

Signal Convertible Preferred Stock 
Immediately prior to the consummation of the merger, all Signal preferred shares were 

converted into Signal common shares on a one-for-one basis and exchanged into Celgene 
common shares on a .1257-for-1 basis upon consummation of the merger.
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A summary of the Signal convertible preferred stock at December 31, 1999 is as follows:

Shares Issued Preference in
and Outstanding Liquidation

Series A 2,626,892 $02,626,892
Series B 2,875,000 3,450,000
Series C 8,791,432 12,308,005
Series D 732,601 2,000,000
Series E 6,455,493 12,329,929
Series F 2,722,513 8,194,761
Series F-1 288,708 1,000,000

24,492,639 $41,909,587

Each of the shares of Series A, B, C, D, E, F and F-1 preferred stock were convertible on 
a one-for-one basis, at the option of the holder, into shares of Signal’s common stock.

Annual dividends of $.08, $.10, $.11, $.32, $.15, $.24 and $.28 per share of Series A, B, C,
D, E, F and F-1 preferred stock, respectively, were payable whenever funds were legally 
available and when declared by the Board of Directors. No dividends were paid.

Common Stock
On February 16, 2000, the Company completed an offering to sell 10,350,000 shares of its common

stock at a price of $33.67 per share. Of the total shares offered, 8,802,000 shares were for the
account of the Company and 1,548,000 shares were for the account of a selling shareholder
pursuant to the conversion of $9,288,000 of the 9%, January 1999 convertible notes held by
that shareholder. Proceeds to the Company, net of expenses, were approximately $278,000,000.

On April 14, 2000, the Company effected a three-for-one stock split for stockholders of
record as of April 11, 2000. On April 10, 2000, the Company’s stockholders approved an
increase in the number of authorized shares of common stock from 30,000,000 to 120,000,000.
All share and per share amounts in the consolidated statements of operations and share and
per share amounts disclosed in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
have been retroactively restated to reflect the three-for-one stock split. Share and per share
amounts in the consolidated balance sheets and statements of stockholders’ equity (deficit) 
have not been retroactively restated to reflect the stock split. During the second quarter 2000,
the Company recorded a reclassification of approximately $433,000 to decrease additional 
paid-in-capital and to increase common stock in order to reflect the three-for-one stock split.

Rights Plan
During 1996, the Company adopted a shareholder rights plan (“Rights Plan”). The Rights 

Plan involves the distribution of one “Right” as a dividend on each outstanding share of the
Company’s common stock to each holder of record on September 26, 1996. Each Right shall
entitle the holder to purchase one-tenth of a share of common stock. The Rights trade in 
tandem with the common stock until, and are exercisable upon, certain triggering events, 
and the exercise price is based on the estimated long term value of the Company’s common
stock. In certain circumstances, the Rights Plan permits the holders to purchase shares of the
Company’s common stock at a discounted rate. The Company’s Board of Directors retains the
right at all times prior to acquisition of 15% of our voting common stock by an acquiror, to
discontinue the Rights Plan through the redemption of all rights or to amend the Rights Plan
in any respect. On February 17, 2000, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an amendment
to the Rights Plan changing the initial exercise price thereunder from $100.00 per Right (as
defined in the original Rights Plan agreement) to $700.00 per Right and extending the final
expiration date of the Rights Plan to February 17, 2010.
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(a) Stock Options
The Company has two equity incentive plans (“Incentive Plans”) that provide for the

granting of options, restricted stock awards, stock appreciation rights, performance awards
and other stock-based awards to employees and officers of the Company to purchase not more
than an aggregate of 4,200,000 shares of common stock under the 1992 plan and 6,500,000
shares of common stock under the 1998 plan, as amended, subject to adjustment under certain 
circumstances. As a result of the merger with Signal, the Company also assumed the former
Signal stock option plans. The options issued pursuant to the former Signal plans converted
into Celgene options upon consummation of the merger at a .1257-for-1 exchange ratio. 
No additional options will be granted from the former Signal plans. The Management
Compensation and Development Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Committee”)
determines the type, amount and terms, including vesting, of any awards made under the
Incentive Plans. The Plans terminate in 2002 and 2008, respectively.

With respect to options granted under the Incentive Plans, the exercise price may not be
less than the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. In general, each
option granted under the Plans vests evenly over a three or four year period and expires 10
years from the date of grant, subject to earlier expiration in case of termination of employment.
The vesting period for options and restricted stock awards granted under the Plans is subject 
to certain acceleration provisions if a change in control, as defined in the Plans, occurs.

On June 16, 1995, the stockholders of the Company approved the 1995 Non-Employee
Directors’ Incentive Plan, which provides for the granting of non-qualified stock options to
purchase an aggregate of not more than 1,050,000 shares of common stock (subject to 
adjustment under certain circumstances) to directors of the Company who are not officers or
employees of the Company (“Non-Employee Directors”). Each new Non-Employee Director,
upon the date of election or appointment, receives an option to purchase 20,000 shares of
common stock. Additionally, upon the date of each annual meeting of stockholders, each 
continuing Non-Employee Director receives an option to purchase 10,000 shares of common
stock (or a pro rata portion thereof for service less than one year). The shares subject to each
non-employee director’s option grant of 20,000 shares vest in four equal annual installments
commencing on the first anniversary of the date of grant. The shares subject to an annual
meeting option grant vest in full on the date of the first annual meeting of stockholders held
following the date of grant. On June 22, 1999, the stockholders of the Company approved 
an amendment to the 1995 Non-Employee Directors’ Incentive Plan that a.) increased the
number of shares authorized to 1,800,000 and b.) provided for a discretionary grant upon 
the date of each annual meeting of an additional option to purchase up to 5,000 shares to a
non-employee director who serves as a member (but not a chairman) of a committee of the
Board of Directors and up to 10,000 shares to a non-employee director who serves as the
chairman of a committee of the Board of Directors. All options are granted at an exercise 
price that equals the fair market value of the Company’s common stock at the grant date 
and expire 10 years after the date of grant. This plan terminates in 2005.

The weighted-average fair value per share for stock options granted was $16.44, $3.06 and
$1.31 for stock options granted in 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively. The Company estimated the
fair values using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and used the following assumptions:

2000 1999 1998

Risk-free interest rate 4.84% 6.37% 5.68%
Expected stock price volatility 57% 46% 63%
Expected term until exercise (years) 2.81 4.94 2.89
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
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The following table summarizes results as if compensation expense was recorded for the
annual option grants under the fair value method:

(thousands of dollars, except per share data) 2000 1999 1998

Net loss applicable to common 
stockholders:

As reported $(16,284) $(30,455) $(29,449)
Pro forma (38,011) (34,248) (31,181)

Net loss per share applicable to common 
stockholders basic and diluted:

As reported $00(0.24) $00(0.59) $00(0.60)
Pro forma (0.57) (0.67) (0.64)

The pro forma effects on net loss applicable to common stockholders and net loss per
share applicable to common stockholders (basic and diluted) for 2000, 1999 and 1998 may not
be representative of the pro forma effects in future years since compensation cost is allocated
on a straight-line basis over the vesting periods of the grants, which extends beyond the
reported years.

The following table summarizes the stock option activity for the aforementioned Plans:

Shares Options outstanding

available Weighted average
for grant Shares price per share

Balance January 1, 1998 1,591,896 7,322,463 $03.14
Authorized 5,111,400 — —
Expired (255,288) — —
Granted (1,929,741) 1,929,741 3.01
Exercised — (939,017) 2.31
Cancelled 618,608 (618,608) 3.54
Repurchases 13,394 — —

Balance December 31, 1998 5,150,269 7,694,579 3.18
Authorized 870,000 — —
Expired (210,141) — —
Granted (2,715,591) 2,715,591 6.38
Exercised — (2,870,021) 2.81
Cancelled 184,618 (184,618) 3.38
Repurchases 219 — —

Balance December 31, 1999 3,279,374 7,355,531 4.50
Authorized 2,417,100 — —
Expired — — —
Granted (3,266,281) 3,266,281 42.19
Exercised — (2,569,569) 3.66
Cancelled 99,555 (99,555) 19.62
Repurchases 2,197 — —

Balance December 31, 2000 2,531,945 7,952,688 $20.06

37



C e l g e n e  C o r p o r a t i o n

The following table summarizes information concerning options outstanding under the
Incentive Plans at December 31, 2000: 

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Number average average Number average

Range of outstanding exercise remaining exercisable exercise
exercise price at 12/31/00 Price term (yrs.) at 12/31/00 price

$1.11 - 5.00 2,218,575 $03.27 6.4 1,416,186 $3.36
$5.01 - 15.00 2,508,423 5.96 8.1 990,444 6.28
$15.01 - 25.00 250,125 17.92 8.9 13,875 17.95
$25.01 - 35.00 1,405,650 25.97 9.1 185,000 25.79
$35.01 - 45.00 134,000 38.34 9.3 — —
$45.01+ 1,435,915 63.52 9.6 129,474 62.58

7,952,688 $20.06 8.1 2,734,979 $8.81

The Company recorded $6,706,274, $1,024,244 and $1,019,170 of deferred compensation
for options granted under the former Signal plans during the 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively,
representing the difference between the option exercise price and the estimated fair value 
of the underlying stock for financial statement presentation purposes. The Company is 
amortizing the deferred compensation over the vesting period of the options and recorded
$3,087,681, $675,122 and $607,788 of compensation expense during the years ended
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

Former non-employee directors of Signal, who entered into consulting agreements with
Celgene effective August 31, 2000, held unvested stock options to purchase 36,457 shares of
the Company’s common stock. As a result, the Company is required to record compensation
expense relative to the fair value of such options which is being recognized over the remaining
vesting period for such options. During 2000, 1999 and 1998, the Company recorded $970,309,
$20,646 and $0, respectively in compensation expense relating to stock options or warrants
issued to consultants, advisors or financial institutions.

(b) Warrants
In connection with the retention of an investment firm to assist in the sale and issuance 

of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, the Company, in 1996, granted to such firm 
warrants to purchase until March 10, 2001, 200,559 shares of common stock at a price of
$6.84. There were 9,000 warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2000.

In connection with the placement of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock in June
1997, the Company issued warrants to purchase 1,557,690 shares of common stock until 
June 1, 2002, at a price of $2.50 per share. There were 1,207,693 warrants outstanding as 
of December 31, 2000.

In conjunction with the issuance of the promissory note in June 2000, the Company
issued the creditor a warrant to purchase 150,000 shares of Signal C-2 Preferred Stock at a
price of $4.00 per share. The warrant was fair valued at $450,000 which was recorded as 
interest expense during 2000. None of these warrants were outstanding as of December 31, 2000.

In conjunction with the issuance of a promissory note in November 1996, the Company
issued the creditor a warrant to purchase 250,000 shares of Signal Series C-1 Preferred Stock
at a price of $2.10 per share. The warrant was valued at $165,000, which was recorded as a
discount on the related debt. The value of the warrant was amortized as interest expense over
the term of the debt which ended during May 2000. The warrant was not outstanding as of
December 31, 2000.
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The Company has an investment savings plan and a deferred compensation plan for certain
employees, of which the investment savings plan qualifies under Section 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code. The Company’s contributions to the savings plan are discretionary
and have historically been made in the form of the Company’s common stock. Such contributions
are based on specified percentages of employee contributions and aggregated a total expense
charged to operations of $1.2 million in 2000 and $1 million in both 1999 and 1998.

During 2000, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a deferred compensation plan
effective September 1, 2000. Eligible participants, which include certain top-level executives
of the Company as specified by the plan, can elect to defer up to 25% of the participant’s base
salary, 100% of cash bonuses and restricted stock and stock options gains (both subject to a
minimum deferral of 50% of each award of restricted stock or stock option gain approved 
by the Committee for deferral). Company contributions to the deferred compensation plan 
represent a 100% match of the participant’s deferral up to a specified percentage (ranging from
10% to 25%, depending on the employee’s position as specified in the plan) of the participant’s
base salary. All amounts are 100% vested at all times, except with respect to restricted stock,
which will not be vested until the date the applicable restrictions lapse. At December 31,
2000, the Company had a deferred compensation liability included in other non-current 
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet of approximately $122,000, which included the
participant’s elected deferral of salaries only, the Company’s matching contribution and 
earnings on deferred amounts as of that date.

Novartis Pharma AG
On April 19, 2000, the Company entered into an agreement with Novartis Pharma AG

(“Novartis”) wherein the Company granted to Novartis an exclusive worldwide license for 
the development and marketing of d-methylphenidate (“d-MPH”), its chirally pure version 
of Ritalin. The Company also granted rights to all of its related intellectual property and
patents, including new formulations of the currently marketed Ritalin. Celgene received 
a $10,000,000, nonrefundable, upfront license fee payment in July 2000 and is entitled to
receive substantial milestone payments in addition to royalties on the entire family of 
Ritalin drugs. The upfront license fee of $10,000,000 is being recognized as revenue over a 
14 month period commencing June 2000 which is management’s estimate of the period of
time required to fulfill its obligations related to obtaining FDA approval of the immediate
release form of d-MPH. This estimate is subject to change due to uncertainties inherent in 
the regulatory approval process, which change could have a material impact on the timing 
of the recognition of revenue. Accordingly, the Company recognized approximately $4,600,000
of research contract revenue for the year ended December 31, 2000. The Company also
achieved a milestone of $5,000,000 in December 2000 upon acceptance of the New Drug
Application (“NDA”) by the FDA for d-MPH. The milestone payment was recognized as
research contract revenue in December 2000.

In December 2000, the Company signed a collaborative research agreement with 
Novartis for joint research of selective estrogen receptor modulator compounds (“SERMs”) 
for the treatment and prevention of osteoporosis. The Company received a nonrefundable,
upfront payment of $10,000,000 and is entitled to receive milestone payments for specific 
preclinical, clinical and regulatory endpoints, as well as royalties upon commercialization 
of products receiving FDA marketing approval. The upfront payment is being amortized 
over the estimated two year research period.
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Axys
On October 15, 1999, the Company entered into a two-year collaborative research and 

license agreement with Axys to develop and commercialize certain compounds for use in 
the prevention and/or treatment of certain human diseases. The Company received an initial
nonrefundable license fee of $2,000,000 and will receive additional payments based on the
achievement of certain program milestones, as well as royalties upon commercial sales of
certain products, if any. The Company may exercise a profit share option in the United States
and possibly other territories at a predetermined point during development in lieu of royalties
on product sales. In addition, Axys has agreed to pay the Company certain amounts for the
full time equivalent personnel working on the research.

Nippon Kayaku 
In February 1998, the Company entered into a two-year collaborative research and license

agreement with Nippon Kayaku to develop and commercialize products based on or derived
from a compound supplied by Nippon Kayaku for the treatment and prevention of diseases
and disorders of the CNS and PNS. Nippon Kayaku has agreed to pay the Company certain
amounts for the full-time equivalent personnel working on the research. Each party is 
obligated to pay the other royalties on future product sales arising from the collaboration.

In February 2000, following the initial research phase of the collaboration, the Company
executed an interim agreement with Nippon Kayaku under which the Company agreed to
enter into a joint agreement to develop and commercialize neuroprotectant drugs for PNS 
and CNS disorders.

In July 2000, the Company and Nippon Kayaku mutually agreed to conclude their 
collaboration. Nippon Kayaku was granted a worldwide, royalty-free license to certain 
compounds involved in the collaboration. 

Dupont
In December 1997, the Company entered into a three-year collaborative research and

license agreement with DuPont Pharmaceuticals (“DuPont”) to develop and commercialize
novel products for the treatment and prevention of human immunodeficiency virus and
hepatitis C virus infection. The Company received an initial nonrefundable license fee of
$1,000,000 and will receive additional payments based on the achievement of certain program
milestones, as well as royalties upon commercial sales of certain products, if any. In addition,
DuPont has agreed to pay the Company certain amounts for the full time equivalent personnel
working on the research. Due to the Company’s achievement of a certain milestone in 1999,
DuPont purchased 288,708 shares of Signal Series F-1 Preferred Stock for total cash proceeds
of $1,000,000. In accordance with EITF Issue No. 98-5 the Company recognized an imputed 
dividend of $818,487 to reflect a beneficial conversion feature on these preferred shares.

Serono 
In November 1997, the Company entered into a three-year collaborative research, development

and license agreement with Serono to perform research within the field of the modulation 
of NF-kB. The agreement was extended for one year at the end of the initial three-year term.
The Company will receive payments based on the achievement of certain program milestones,
as well as royalties upon commercial sales of certain products, if any. In addition, Serono
makes quarterly payments to the Company to fund research efforts. Serono purchased shares
of Signal Series F Preferred Stock in conjunction with the license agreement.
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Tanabe 
From March 1996 to March 1998 the Company and Tanabe were engaged in a collaborative

program under which Tanabe funded certain research by the Company in target and drug 
discovery in the fields of inflammatory disease and osteoporosis. In March 1998, the Company
and Tanabe mutually agreed to conclude their collaboration and Tanabe licensed from the
Company a lead compound that was discovered during the collaboration. Signal retained all
other intellectual property rights. Tanabe paid a nonrefundable fee of $1,800,000 to the
Company for the exclusive worldwide license to the lead compound and is obligated to make
payments to the Company based on the achievement of certain research and development
milestones and royalties on any future product sales. The Company has no future performance
obligations under this collaboration.

At December 31, 2000 and 1999, the tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to
deferred tax assets are as follows:

2000 1999

Deferred assets:
Federal and state net operating loss carryforwards $125,087,000 $84,536,000
Capitalized research expenses 6,788,000 921,000
Research and experimentation tax credit carryforwards 6,111,000 5,861,000
Plant and equipment, principally due to differences

in depreciation 2,168,000 2,027,000
Patents, principally due to differences in amortization 111,000 58,000
Accrued and other expenses 4,470,000 711,000

Total deferred tax assets 144,735,000 94,114,000
Valuation allowance (144,735,000) (94,114,000)

Net deferred tax assets $00000000— $0000000—

During 2000 and 1999, the Company recognized a tax benefit of $1,809,677 and
$3,017,910, respectively, from the sale of certain State net operating loss carryforwards. 

A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that some portion or 
all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. At December 31, 2000, the Company had
Federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $312,307,000 and combined State
net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $228,225,000 that will expire in the years
2001 through 2010. State net operating loss carryforwards differ from Federal net operating
loss carryforwards primarily due to the fact that the Company sold approximately $60,082,000
of its State net operating loss carryforwards during 2000 and 1999 and approximately
$24,000,000 has expired. The Company also has research and experimentation credit 
carryforwards of approximately $6,111,000 that expire in the years 2001 through 2015.
Ultimate utilization/availability of such net operating losses and credits may be curtailed 
if a significant change in ownership occurs. Signal experienced an ownership change, as that
term is defined in section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, when it was merged with
Celgene. As such, there is an annual limitation on the use of Signal’s Net Operating Loss in
the amount of approximately $11,580,000. Of the deferred tax asset related to the Federal and
State net operating loss carryforwards, approximately $56,000,000 relates to a tax deduction
for non qualified stock options. The Company will increase additional paid in capital when
those benefits are realized for tax purposes.

41

14. Income Taxes



C e l g e n e  C o r p o r a t i o n

On January 9, 1998, the Company concluded an agreement with Cambrex Corporation
(“Cambrex”) for Cambrex to acquire Celgene’s chiral intermediate business for approximately
$15,000,000. The Company received $7,500,000 upon the closing of the transaction, and will
receive future royalties with a present value not exceeding $7,500,000, with certain minimum
royalty payments in the third through sixth year following the closing of the transaction.
Included in the transaction are the rights to Celgene’s enzymatic technology for the production
of chirally pure intermediates for the pharmaceutical industry, including the current pipeline
of third party products and the equipment and personnel associated with the business. During
the fourth quarter 2000, the Company received $719,103 pursuant to the minimum royalty
provision of the agreement.

(a) Leases
The Company leases its offices and research facilities under several operating lease agreements.

The minimum annual rents may be subject to specified annual rental increases. The non-
cancelable lease terms for the operating leases expire at various dates between 2002 and 2011
and each agreement includes renewal options ranging from one or two additional three or 
five-year terms. In general, the Company is also required to reimburse the lessors for real
estate taxes, insurance, utilities, maintenance and other operating costs associated with the
leases. The Company received approximately $450,000 per year from 1998 through 2000 
from Cambrex Corporation under a facilities sub-lease agreement. The fees were for rent, 
utilities and other services.

In July 1997, the Company entered into an equipment leasing agreement; under the 
agreement, the Company can lease up to $1,000,000 of equipment for a three year term after
which the Company can purchase the equipment for a nominal value. Through December 31,
2000, the Company has leased $675,000 of laboratory equipment under this agreement. 
In addition, the Company leases certain laboratory equipment and machinery and office 
furniture under other capital lease arrangements with three year terms and options to 
extend the lease term to five years. Assets held under capital leases are included in plant 
and equipment and the amortization of these assets is included with depreciation expense.

Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases (with initial or
remaining lease terms in excess of one year) and future minimum capital lease payments as 
of December 31, 2000 are: 

Operating Capital
leases leases

Year ending December 31,

2001 $01,990,452 $996,444
2002 2,062,221 602,705
2003 2,098,221 46,801
2004 1,131,000 —
2005 1,131,000 —
Later years, through 2010 3,772,000 —

Total minimum lease payments $12,184,894 1,645,950

Less amount representing interest 83,746

Present value of net minimum capital lease payments 1,562,204
Less current installments of obligations under capital leases 929,258

Obligations under capital leases, excluding current installments $632,946
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Total rental expense under operating leases amounted to $2,142,937, $1,815,792 and
$1,930,670 in 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

(b) Employment Agreements
The Company has employment agreements with certain officers and employees. The

related outstanding annual commitment through 2002 is approximately $2.3 million (exclud-
ing any change in control provisions). Employment contracts provide for an increase in com-
pensation reflecting annual reviews and related salary adjustments.

(c) Contracts 
Pursuant to the terms of a research and development agreement with The Rockefeller

University (“Rockefeller”), the Company has purchased for cash and stock options the world-wide
exclusive license to manufacture and market any drugs, including THALOMID, which may
result from the research performed at Rockefeller and funded by the Company. The portion of 
the agreement that provides for research services to be performed by Rockefeller is renewable for
one year terms upon agreement of both parties. Under terms of the current research agreement
extension, the Company is committed to pay Rockefeller $504,000 annually for research.

The Company has an agreement with Penn Pharmaceutical, Ltd. of Great Britain
(“Penn”) for the production of THALOMID. Penn manufactures THALOMID and sells it
exclusively to the Company. The agreement is renewable for one year terms and has been
renewed for 2001, for facility payments totaling approximately $540,000.

In October 1997, the Company entered into a contract with Boston University to manage
the surveillance registry which is intended to monitor compliance to the requirements of the
Company’s S.T.E.P.S. (System for Thalidomide Education and Prescribing Safety) program for
all THALOMID patients. The contract is renewable for one year terms upon agreement of
both parties and has been renewed for 2001. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company
is required to make quarterly payments of approximately $404,000.

In September 1999, the Company entered into a Master Clinical Service agreement 
with Premier Research Worldwide, Ltd. (“PRWW”) under which work orders may be executed
from time to time for PRWW to provide services in support of clinical development projects.
In 2001, the Company anticipates payments to PRWW of approximately $2,200,000 under
three such work orders.

In December 1998, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with
EntreMed, Inc. (“EntreMed”) whereby EntreMed granted to the Company an exclusive license
to its patent and technology rights for thalidomide. In return, EntreMed will receive royalties
on all sales of THALOMID.

In December 1997, the Company entered into a research agreement with the University
of Glasgow for clinical testing and evaluation of certain of Celgene’s patented compounds.
Under terms of the agreement, the Company agreed to pay the University approximately
$200,000 in two annual installments. The term of the original agreement was for two years
and has been extended through 2001.

In 1998, the Company paid $280,000 in cash and issued 30,168 shares of common stock 
related to a license agreement with the University of Massachusetts and capitalized the total
value of $1,000,000 as purchased technology. The Company has future commitments to pay
up to an additional $4,100,000 to licensees based on the achievement of certain milestones, 
as well as royalties upon commercial sales, if any, of certain products. Such fees or milestone
payments may also involve the issuance of up to 7,542 shares of common stock, which would
be recorded at the fair value at the date of issuance.
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(d) Contingencies 
The Company believes it maintains insurance coverage adequate for its current needs.
The Company’s operations are subject to environmental laws and regulations which

impose limitations on the discharge of pollutants into the air and water and establish 
standards for the treatment, storage and disposal of solid and hazardous wastes. The Company
reviews the effects of such laws and regulations on its operation and modifies its operations 
as appropriate. The Company believes it is in substantial compliance with all applicable 
environmental laws and regulations.

SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,
requires the use of the management approach in identifying and disclosing financial 
information about segments of an enterprise. The Company is engaged in the discovery,
development and commercialization of orally administered, small molecule drugs for the
treatment of cancer and immunological diseases. Additionally, the Company’s chiral 
chemistry program develops chirally pure versions of existing compounds for both 
pharmaceutical and agrochemical markets. The Company markets and sells its product 
in the United States and the Company is managed and operates as one business segment.

All of the Company’s customers for THALOMID are located in the United States. 
In 2000, five customers accounted for 54.5% of total product sales revenue. At December 31,
2000, these customers had an aggregate outstanding accounts receivable balance that 
represented 78.1% of the total balance. The Company estimates an allowance for doubtful
accounts based on the creditworthiness of its customers as well as general economic 
conditions. Consequently, an adverse change in those factors could affect the Company’s 
estimate of its bad debts.
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(In thousands, except for Three Months Ended

share and per share amounts) 12/31/00 9/30/00 6/30/00 3/31/00 12/31/99 9/30/99 6/30/99 3/31/99

Consolidated Statements
of Operations Data(1):

Total revenue $27,323 $22,705 $19,685 $14,537 $12,347 $((9,286 $(9,097 $(7,228
Gross profit(2) 13,892 15,144 13,652 10,002 8,082 5,614 4,537 2,836
Merger-related costs (500) 7,168 — — — — — —
Tax benefit 1,810 — — — 3,018 — — —
Net income (loss) $03,693 $((7,471) $((5,882) $((6,625) $((4,808) $((8,234) $((7,789) $(8,805)
Net income (loss) 

per share applicable 
to common stockholders:(3)

Basic $000.05 $0,(0.11) $0,(0.09) $0,(0.11) $0,(0.11) $0,(0.16) $0(0.15) $0(0.17)
Diluted $000.05 $0,(0.11) $0,(0.09) $0,(0.11) $0,(0.11) $0,(0.16) $0(0.15) $0(0.17)
Weighted average 

number of shares 
of common stock 
outstanding -
basic(3) 73,314,000 68,301,000 65,349,000 59,151,000 52,404,000 51,478,000 51,147,000 50,656,000

Weighted average 
number of shares 
of common stock 
outstanding -
diluted(3) 81,662,000 68,301,000 65,349,000 59,151,000 52,404,000 51,478,000 51,147,000 50,656,000

(1) Amounts are restated to reflect the merger with Signal Pharmaceuticals, Inc. on August 31, 2000 which was accounted for 
(1) as a pooling-of-interests. 
(2) Gross profit is calculated as product sales less cost of goods sold. 
(3) These amounts are adjusted for the three-for-one stock split effected April 2000.
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Executive Officers and Board of Directors
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JOHN W. JACKSON - has been 

Chairman of the Board and 

Chief Executive Officer of the 

Company since January 

1996. Mr. Jackson was 

founder and President of Gemini Medical, a 

consulting firm which specialized in services 

and investment advice to start-up medical 

device and biotechnology companies, from

February 1991 to January 1996. Previously,

Mr. Jackson had been President of the world-

wide Medical Device Division of American

Cyanamid from February 1986 to January 1991,

and served in various international positions,

including Vice President — International for

American Cyanamid from 1978 to 1986.

Previously, Mr. Jackson served in several 

human health marketing positions at 

Merck & Company, a major pharmaceutical 

company, from 1971 to 1978.

SOL J. BARER, PH.D. - has been 

President of the Company 

since October 1993 and 

Chief Operating Officer of 

the Company since March 1994. Dr. Barer was 

Senior Vice President - Science and Technology

and Vice President/ General Manager — Chiral

Products of the Company from October 1990 to

October 1993, and Vice President - Technology of 

the Company from September 1987 to October

1990. Dr. Barer received a Ph.D. in organic and 

physical chemistry from Rutgers University.

Dr. Barer is also a director of Iatros 

Bio/Pharma, LLC.

ROBERT J. HUGIN – has been 

Senior Vice President and 

Chief Financial Officer of the 

Company since June 1999.

Prior to joining Celgene,

Mr. Hugin held senior positions with J.P. Morgan 

& Co. Inc. Mr. Hugin holds an AB from Princeton

University and an MBA from the University of

Virginia.

JACK L. BOWMAN - served as 

Company Group Chairman of 

Johnson & Johnson from 1987 

to 1994. From 1983 to 1987 

Mr. Bowman served as Executive Vice President 

of American Cyanamid.Mr.Bowman is also a 

director of NeoRx Corporation,Cell Therapeutics,

Inc., Cellegy Pharmaceuticals,Targeted Genetics 

and Osiris Pharmaceuticals.

FRANK T. CARY - has been 

Chairman of the Executive 

Committee of the Board of 

Directors of the Company 

since July 1990. From 1973 to 1981, Mr. Cary 

was Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive

Officer of International Business Machines

Corporation. Mr. Cary is also a director of Cygnus

Therapeutic Systems Inc., ICOS Corporation,

Lincare Inc., Lexmark International Inc. and 

VION Pharmaceuticals.

ARTHUR HULL HAYES, JR., M.D. -

has been President and 

Chief Operating Officer at 

MediScience Associates,

Inc., a consulting organization that works 

with pharmaceutical firms, biomedical 

companies, and foreign governments,

since July 1991. Dr. Hayes has also been a 

partner in IssueSphere, a public affairs 

firm that focuses on health science issues,

since November 1995, as well as a professor 

in medicine, pharmacology,and family and 

community medicine at New York Medical 

College, and clinical professor of medicine 

and pharmacology at the Pennsylvania State

University College of Medicine. From 1986 

to 1990, Dr. Hayes was President and Chief

Executive Officer of E.M. Pharmaceuticals,

a unit of E. Merck AG, and from 1981 to 1983 

was Commissioner of the U.S. Food and Drug

Administration. Dr. Hayes also is a director of 

Myriad Genetics, Inc. NaPro BioTherapeutics,

Inc., and Premier Research 

Worldwide.

GILLA KAPLAN,PH.D. - is an 

immunologist in the

Laboratory of Cellular 

Physiology and Immunology at The Rockefeller

University in New York where she was appointed

Assistant Professor in 1985 and Associate 

Professor in 1990. Dr. Kaplan is a member of 

numerous professional societies and has been 

the organizer of several major symposia on

tuberculosis. Dr. Kaplan has served as an 

advisor to the Global Program for Vaccines 

and Immunization of the World Health 

Organization, has participated in several NIH 

peer review panels, is on the Editorial Board 

of Microbial Drug Resistances (since 1994),

and Tubercle and Lung Disease, since 1997.

Dr. Kaplan is the author of more than 150 

scientific publications and has received 

international recognition for her work. In 

1995, she gave the Special Honorary Lecture 

at the American Society for Microbiology and 

in 1997 was appointed a Fellow of the American

Academy of Microbiology.

RICHARD C.E. MORGAN - is Chairman 

and Chief Executive Officer of 

VennWorks LLC, a technology 

operating company, and a 

Managing Partner of Amphion Capital 

Management LLC, a private equity and venture 

capital firm and the successor to Wolfensohn

Partners, L.P. Mr. Morgan serves on the Board 

of Directors of Indigo N.V., Chroma Vision 

Medical Systems, Inc. Axcess, Inc. and Orbisi

International, Inc.

WALTER L. ROBB, PH.D. - is 

President of Vantage

Management Inc., a 

consulting and investor 

services company, since January 1993. Dr. Robb 

was Senior Vice President for Corporate 

Research and Development of General Electric

Company, and a member of its Corporate 

Executive Council from 1986 to December 1992.

Dr. Robb is also Chairman of the Board of 

Directors of Capital District Sports, a director 

of Cree, Inc., Mechanical Technology, Inc., Plug

Power, Inc., Molecular OptoElectronics, Nextec,

Cyclics and X-Ray Optical Systems.

LEE J. SCHROEDER - has 

been President of 

Lee Schroeder &

Associates, Inc.,

pharmaceutical 

business consultants, since 1985.

Mr. Schroeder was President of 

Fox Meyer Lincoln, from 1983 to 1985.

Mr. Schroeder was Executive Vice President 

of Sandoz, Inc. from 1981 to 1983.

Mr. Schroeder is also Chairman of the Board 

of Bryan LGH Health System and a director 

of MGI Pharmaceutical, Inc., Pediatrics, Inc.,

Ascent Pharmaceuticals and Interneuron

Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
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Corporate Information

Stockholder Information

Celgene’s common stock is traded on the NASDAQ National Market System. 

NASDAQ Symbol: CELG. Celgene options are listed on the Chicago Board Options

Exchange. CBOE symbol: LQH.

As of April 2, 2001 there were 706 holders of record of the Company’s common

stock. The following table sets forth the intra-day high and low sales price of the 

common stock for the periods indicated, as reported by the NASDAQ National

Market System and has been adjusted to reflect the 3 for 1 stock split in April 2000.

2000 1999

High Low High Low

First Quarter $62.33 $18.92 $6.21 $3.83

Second Quarter 68.50 25.00 6.69 5.13

Third Quarter 76.00 41.75 9.67 4.88

Fourth Quarter 74.88 26.88 24.21 8.65

The price quotations set forth above represent prices to dealers and do not include

retail markups, markdowns or commissions. Celgene has not paid, and does not 

anticipate paying in the near future, dividends on its common stock. Stockholders,

analysts and other representatives of the financial community wishing more 

information about Celgene should direct their inquiries to:

Investor Relations

Celgene Corporation

7 Powder Horn Drive

Warren, New Jersey 07059

Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of stockholders of Celgene Corporation will be held on 

June 19, 2001, at Proskauer Rose LLP, 1585 Broadway, New York, New York 

at 1:00 P.M.

Form 10-K

Copies of the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000 may be obtained by 

stockholders without charge upon written inquiry to the Corporate Secretary at the 

corporate headquarters.

IMiDs™, SelCIDs™, S.T.E.P.S.™ and ©Copyright 2001 Celgene Corporation

Celgro™ are trademarks of Celgene Corporation 

THALOMID® is a registered trademark of Celgene Corporation

Ritalin® is a registered trademark of Novartis Pharma AG

Corporate Headquarters

Celgene Corporation

7 Powder Horn Drive

Warren, New Jersey 07059

(732) 271-1001

Transfer Agent

American Stock Transfer 

& Trust Company

40 Wall Street

New York, New York 10036

Independent Auditors

KPMG LLP

150 John F. Kennedy Parkway

Short Hills, New Jersey 07078

Certain information contained in this 

annual report are forward looking 

statements. Factors that appear with 

the forward looking statements or in 

the Company’s Securities and Exchange

Commission filings could cause the

Company’s actual results to differ 

materially from those expressed in 

any forward looking statements in 

this annual report.

Visit our website at

www.celgene.com
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Celgene Corporation

7 Powder Horn Drive

Warren, NJ 07059
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